

Loyola University Chicago

Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

2018

Home/school Collaboration and the Development of a Growth Mindset Within Gifted Students

Lauren A. Carlson Loyola University Chicago

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss

Part of the Educational Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Carlson, Lauren A., "Home/school Collaboration and the Development of a Growth Mindset Within Gifted Students" (2018). *Dissertations*. 2782. https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss/2782

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu. Copyright © 2018 Lauren A Carlson

LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO

HOME/SCHOOL COLLABORATION AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF A GROWTH MINDSET WITHIN GIFTED STUDENTS

A DOCTORAL RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

PROGRAM IN SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGY

BY

LAUREN A. CARLSON

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

MAY 2018

Copyright by Lauren A. Carlson, 2018

All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project could not have been completed without the support and encouragement from many individuals. I would like to especially thank my research committee chair, Dr. Gina Coffee, for her guidance, support, and patience throughout the research process. Although this process took longer than intended, her patience and encouragement helped me completed what seemed to be an insurmountable task. I would also like to thank Dr. Markeda Newell, my co-chair and committee member, for stepping in and providing extra support to me through the end of the research project as well as providing her expertise and feedback throughout the entire project. I would also like to thank my committee member from my district, Dr. Kelly Neylon, for providing her invaluable expertise and feedback as well as her willingness to help with the recruitment process. I am grateful for all of the time and effort all of these members dedicated in order to make sure I reached success. I would also like to thank my friend, colleague, cohort member, and life-long mentor, Dr. Barb Martin, who very willingly participated as a second coder in the research project and provided unending general encouragement and support. Finally, I am also appreciative of the parents and teachers who voluntarily gave their time to participate in this study.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this research project to my family. I am grateful for the continual support and encouragement they provided me throughout this seemingly neverending process. Their patience helped give me the strength I needed to push through toward completion of this project during one of the most difficult times in my life. To my late father, Wayne, thank you for helping me remember that I can always accomplish whatever I put my mind to while also reminding me to take care of myself; I know you would be so proud to see that I finally finished this project! To my mom, Carolyn, my sister, Michelle, and my nephew, Charley, thank you for always making me feel it was not a matter of "if" I would finish, but "when." Finally, to Robert Charles Spreenberg, thank you for being patient with me throughout this process. Your love and support kept me going even at the hardest of times.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
ABSTRACT	ix

CHAPTER

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Statement of the Problem	1
	Contribution of the Study	1
	Purpose of the Study	2
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
	Underachievement and Perfectionism in Gifted Students	7
	Increasing Growth Mindset	9
	Parental Influence on Gifted Students' Mindset	13
	Home-School Collaboration and Parent Education	15
	Summary	. 18
ш	METHOD	20
	Researcher's Role and Biases	
	Background Information	
	Description of Site	22
	District	22
	Participants	23
	Parents	23
	Teachers	28
	Data Collection	30
	Instruments	30
	Parent survey	30
	Parent focus group	32
	Teacher focus group	32
	Teacher survey	33
	Procedure	33
	Parents	33
	Teachers	35
	Data Analysis	36
	Trustworthiness	38
	Summary	40

D. TEACHER FOCUS GROUP PROTOCOL	
E. FOLLOW UP TEACHER SURVEY	
REFERENCE LIST	
VITA	

LIST OF TABLES

Та	ble	Page
1.	Background and Demographics of Parent Participants	25
2.	Background and Demographics of Parent Participants' Child in the Gifted Program	27
3.	Background and Demographics of Teacher Focus Group Participants	29

ABSTRACT

Studies show that curricula related to mindset can have a positive effect on increasing growth mindset in students. Literature also suggests that messages students receive from parents about their skills and hard work can have implications for mindset development. In this project, the researcher explored the knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to growth mindset instruction. The researcher also explored how teachers can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts. The researcher used a survey questionnaire and a semi-structured interview through a focus group format in a mixed-method case study design. Descriptive statistics and constant comparison analysis was used. The following research questions were asked: (1) What impact has the current growth mindset practices in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district had on parents? (2) How do parents of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward? (3) How do gifted teachers of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward? The researcher found that parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts as well a relatively high level of exposure to growth mindset concepts.

However, parent participants indicated a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with these concepts. Teachers report feeling a parent's role is to reinforce growth mindset concepts at home with the support of a classroom teacher. In addition, collaboration could improve through the use of workshops, discussions during parent teacher conferences, student assignments, and collaborative goal setting. Limitations of the current study and directions for future research are discussed.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

As a school psychologist working with students in grades K-8, I have observed many students display negative aspects of perfectionism as well as a lack of resiliency to academic failure. In recent years, I have been asked to consult more often with teachers and parents during problem solving for gifted students that are displaying these difficulties. Parker and Adkins (1995) provided a review of the literature, and they indicated that although the rate of perfectionism in gifted students is not higher than the rate for non-gifted students, perfectionism is still present in many gifted and talented individuals and that it can lead to negative effects. There is a need to address the negative aspects of perfectionism among students who are gifted.

Contribution of the Study

In 2014, all of the gifted teachers in a small suburban K-8 school district began implementing the Brainology® computer curriculum (Mindset Works, Inc, 2012) as a part of the gifted education curriculum in grades 5 and 6 to help decrease negative aspects of students' perfectionism as well as to increase students' levels of resiliency. The focus of this curriculum was on teaching students about having a growth mindset. Growth mindset, also known as incremental theory, is the belief that intellectual ability is malleable through hard work and effort (Dweck, 2000). Current research indicates that these types of curriculums can increase positive learning goals, effort, and resiliency in gifted and non-gifted students (Blackwell, Trzesniewski, & Dweck, 2007; Donahue, Topping, & Hannah, 2012; Esparza, Shumow, & Schmidt, 2014; Paunesku, Walton, Romero, Smith, Yeager, & Dweck, 2015).

In recent years, the teachers of gifted students in the small suburban K-8 school district have continued to teach lessons on growth mindset, derived from the Brainology® computer intervention. In addition, the district has provided an annual opportunity for parents of gifted students to listen to a guest speaker on the importance of having a growth mindset. This is an important addition to the teachers' lessons because research suggests that parents have a great impact on the motivation, goals, and mindset that students endorse (Ablard & Parker, 1997; Garn, Matthews, & Jolly, 2012). However, this addition alone may not be enough to assist parents in implementing strategies related to the development of a growth mindset at home. At this time, a more systematic and extensive review of the process for involving parents in the growth mindset instruction occurring in a small suburban K-8 district is warranted to determine how parents can better support their students in the gifted program at home with developing a growth mindset.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the current study is to explore the current knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to the growth mindset instruction occurring within the gifted program. In addition, another purpose of the current study is to explore how the gifted

teachers in a small suburban K-8 district can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts so that these concepts are further reinforced at home.

Thus, the questions to be answered by this study include:

- 1. What impact has the current growth mindset practices in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district had on parents?
 - a. What do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 within a small suburbanK-8 district currently know regarding the concepts of growth mindset?
 - b. What do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 within a small suburban K-8 district report regarding their exposure to the concepts of growth mindset?
 - c. What do parents report regarding their level of involvement with the growth mindset instruction being provided within a small suburban K-8 district?
 - d. Is there a relationship between the levels of what parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 know regarding growth mindset and their current reported exposure or involvement with the growth mindset instruction occurring within a small suburban K-8 district?
- 2. How do parents of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward?

- a. How do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 district perceive their role in developing a growth mindset for their children?
- b. How would parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K 8 district like collaboration to occur between the child's gifted teacher and
 themselves with regard to developing a growth mindset for their children?
- 3. How do gifted teachers of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward?
 - a. How do gifted teachers of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 district perceive the parents' role in developing a growth mindset for the children in the gifted program?
 - b. How would gifted teachers of gifted students in grades 5-6 in the small suburban K-8 district like collaboration to occur between the parents and themselves with regard to developing a growth mindset for children in the gifted program?

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Implicit theories of intelligence state that students can hold differing "theories" or beliefs about the nature of intelligence (Dweck, 2000). These implicit beliefs can be defined into two different categories known as incremental theory (otherwise known as growth mindset) or entity theory (otherwise known a fixed mindset). Incremental theory can be defined as the belief that intelligence is malleable or something you can increase (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who endorse an incremental theory of intelligence also believe through hard work, effort, and persistence, that they can increase their skills and achieve their goals. Furthermore, they are more likely to have learning goals for themselves. With a learning goal, a student's focus is on increasing their skills. Conversely, students who endorse an entity theory believe that intelligence is fixed, concrete, or something you cannot change (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who endorse in an entity theory of intelligence may lack persistence and give up more easily on a task, reducing their skill development and decreasing the likelihood of achieving their goals. They are more likely to have performance goals for themselves. With a performance goal, a student's focus is on achieving a certain criterion and demonstrating their skills to others. Dweck summarized current research in this area and discussed how these differing beliefs of intelligence can have an impact on the motivation of students, the types of goals that they set for

themselves, and thus their achievement. Additional research has also validated these claims.

Blackwell et al. (2007) provided evidence that beliefs about intelligence can impact student motivation and achievement. In the first part of a two-part study, the researchers assessed entering seventh grade students' theory of intelligence, goals, and beliefs about effort, and responses to failure via rating scales. They then assessed the students' baseline level of mathematics achievement from the end of sixth grade and monitored their fall and spring mathematics grades from seventh to eighth grade. Not only did they confirm that junior high students who endorsed an initial incremental theory of intelligence also believed in effort, learning goals, and had lower levels of helpless attributions to failure, but that the type of theory of intelligence these students held significantly predicted their mathematics achievement. Students who endorsed an incremental theory of intelligence demonstrated higher mathematics grades compared to students that endorsed an entity theory of intelligence. Through analysis of growth curves, testing of mediation, and structural equation modeling, the researchers found that it was the students' motivational patterns, influenced by their endorsement of an incremental theory of intelligence, which impacted students' increases in mathematics grades.

Similarly, Haimovitz, Wormington, and Corpus (2011) examined whether student beliefs about intelligence correlated with the decline or maintenance of intrinsic motivation. The researchers assessed third through eighth grade students' intrinsic motivation, theory of intelligence, and ability-validation goals through rating scale administration in the fall of one school year. Ability-validation goals are similar to performance goals as described previously. Specifically, ability-validation goals encompass a student's desire to verify their intelligence through their achievements. The researchers then re-assessed the same sample of students' in the spring of the same school year on the variable of intrinsic motivation. A hierarchical logistic regression provided evidence that an endorsement of an entity theory of intelligence predicted the decline of intrinsic motivation found in students. A meditational analysis indicated that this relationship was mediated by an endorsement of ability-validation goals. Interestingly, the research did not find an interaction by grade level, suggesting that the motivation of students as young as third grade can be impacted by the adoption of a fixed mindset. Examining the motivational patterns of students within specific populations, such as gifted, is warranted to determine the impact mindset may have on these specific populations.

Underachievement and Perfectionism in Gifted Students

Despite high levels of intelligence as measured by cognitive tests, gifted students are not immune to underachievement and motivational concerns. Reis and McCoach (2010) provided an overview of the research and literature surrounding the existence of underachievement in gifted students. The authors describe several internal and external factors as being present in gifted underachievers (including, but not limited to, having a low self-concept, having a fear of failure, and lacking goal directed behavior) that may be linked to the development of underachievement in this population. Similarly, Blaas (2014) describes how gifted students are at risk for underachievement and social emotional difficulties because of the unique characteristics of giftedness. One of the unique characteristics described was perfectionism. Researchers have discussed the notion of two different types of perfectionism (Fletcher & Speirs Neumeister, 2012). The two types include an adaptive, healthy, or positive type of perfectionism and a maladaptive, unhealthy, or negative type of perfectionism. The latter type is described as being socially prescribed, having concern over mistakes, and having doubts about actions. It is this type of perfectionism that may be detrimental to a student's motivation and resiliency.

Although research indicates that overall rates of perfectionism (both adaptive and maladaptive) are not different among gifted students and general ability students (Parker & Mills, 1996), Parker (1997) provided evidence that the negative/maladaptive type of perfectionism occurs in approximately a quarter of the gifted population. A large national sample of sixth grade, gifted students was assessed on their levels of perfectionism via the Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale as well as several different personality characteristics via administration of four different rating scales. In addition, parental perceptions of the adjustment, behaviors, and goals of their children as well as the responsiveness of the child's school were assessed via questionnaire. Parker found three distinct groups of gifted students based on responses to surveys, which included a nonperfectionistic group (32.8%), a healthy perfectionistic group (41.7%), and a dysfunctional perfectionistic group (25.5%). The dysfunctional perfectionistic group was described as being concerned about making mistakes, perceiving parental criticism,

having doubts about their actions as well as likely being socially detached, defensive, anxious, moody, hostile, and overly competitive. It is with this group of students that mindset changes may be beneficial.

Expanding on the findings of Parker (1997), Chan (2012) provided evidence that a growth mindset intervention would be beneficial to gifted students with a maladaptive form of perfectionism. Similar to Parker, he found two different types of perfectionists groups (adaptive perfectionists and maladaptive perfectionists) in a sample of Chinese gifted students. However, Chan also explored the mindsets that these different groups held. He found that healthy, adaptive perfectionists were more likely to have a growth mindset while unhealthy, maladaptive perfectionists were more likely to have a fixed mindset. Because of this, Chan suggested that interventions to support unhealthy, maladaptive perfectionist gifted students should focus on changing mindsets from a more fixed orientation to a more growth orientation.

Increasing Growth Mindset

Because research suggests that having a growth mindset can impact the motivation and achievement of students, it must then be asked whether the development of a growth mindset in students can be fostered through interventions or curricula. There have been several studies that have implemented school-based interventions to increase growth mindset to determine the effectiveness of such interventions.

Specifically, in the second part of a study conducted by Blackwell et al. (2007), the researchers implemented an intervention in which mentors taught, through various teaching techniques (readings, activities, discussion), seventh grade students about incremental theory and the malleability of intelligence. They found that by teaching students about the malleability of intelligence, students showed increased knowledge regarding an incremental theory of intelligence, a change in their personal beliefs regarding the malleability of intelligence, and an increase in motivation (per teacher report). Although the sample as a whole showed a decline in mathematics grades from prior to the study, those who were taught about incremental theory and the malleability of intelligence demonstrated a lesser decline than those not taught about incremental theory and the malleability of intelligence.

In a different research study, Donahue et al. (2012) examined the effectiveness of the Brainology® intervention (Mindset Works Inc., 2012) on increasing growth mindset and resiliency in secondary school students in Scotland. Brainology® is an online curriculum that teaches students the scientific basis of developing and having a growth mindset. It includes not only online lessons and modules, but also several classroom activities that teachers can utilize to reinforce the concepts of the program. In the study, students were assessed on their mindset and resiliency via rating scales prior to the experimental group being exposed to the Brainology® curriculum. All students were then reassessed on these variables after the experimental group completed the curriculum. Those who completed the Brainology® curriculum demonstrated increases in mindset scores at post-test, but there was no difference found in the students' levels of reported resiliency. In addition, the experimental group's increase in mindset scores was not maintained three months after the intervention ended. This suggests the need for follow up lessons and reinforcement regarding the concepts to create sustainability in mindset changes. However, the study did not examine the impact this intervention had on achievement, which was an outcome variable examined in prior studies.

Researchers have recently started to examine whether interventions targeted for increasing mindset have been beneficial specifically for gifted students. Esparza et al. (2014) investigated whether the Brainology® intervention would be effective for increasing the growth mindset of gifted and talented seventh grade science students. Specifically, the intervention was provided to seventh grade science classrooms within a school. This included the participation of eighty students that were identified as gifted and talented that participated in the general science education curriculum with pullout enrichment. The researchers assessed all students' beliefs about the malleability of intelligence through the administration of a survey prior to and after the implementation of the Brainology® intervention. Initially, the researchers found that gifted and talented students had a higher belief in the malleability of intelligence than regular education students. However, they still found that gifted and talented students who were exposed to the Brainology[®] intervention increased in their level of growth mindset after the intervention. They reported that this change was maintained through a follow up check as well. Given these results, the authors concluded that other interventions that are targeted at enhancing mindset in gifted students should be reviewed for effectiveness with the gifted population.

More recently, Paunesku et al. (2015) explored the impact of a 45-minute growth mindset online intervention and a 45-minute sense of purpose online intervention with a large number of high school students across thirteen geographically diverse high schools. Unlike a growth mindset intervention, the intent of the sense of purpose online intervention was to increase students' beliefs in how schoolwork could help them accomplish life goals. To begin the study, prior to the administration of the online interventions, the researchers assessed students' beliefs regarding the malleability of intelligence and their beliefs regarding the meaningfulness of schoolwork tasks. They then re-assessed these variables after the online interventions and reviewed students' academic performance via fall and spring GPA. In this more large-scale application of a growth mindset intervention, the researchers once again found that the growth mindset intervention led to students' endorsing an incremental theory view of intelligence. The sense of purpose intervention led to students ' endorsing the relevance of academic tasks to learning outcomes. In addition, students that were having academic difficulties (one third of the sample that demonstrated a first semester GPA of 2.0 or less or failed at least one academic course) that were exposed to the mindset intervention demonstrated increases in GPA and number of satisfactory grades in core classes after the intervention.

Overall, many studies have shown a positive effect on increasing growth mindset in students. Specifically, growth mindset interventions appear to be effective not only in increasing knowledge about growth mindset and the malleability of intelligence, but also by increasing student motivation and achievement. However, the thoroughness and complexity of the intervention may impact the sustainability of these effects as evidenced by the results from Donahue et al. (2012). Parent involvement with growth mindset concepts may be the answer to increasing the effects of mindset interventions.

Parental Influence on Gifted Students' Mindset

The mindset that gifted students develop is not limited to the influences of interventions or curricula at school. The message that parents convey also impacts the development of a child's mindset. Specifically, parental messages can impact the development of a fixed mindset in children if the message portrayed is that intellect is innate and achievements are based on skill and not hard work and effort (Dweck, 2010). Parental practices and the messages they portray to their gifted children are influenced by their own beliefs surrounding the abilities of their children (Garn, Matthews, & Jolly, 2012).

Specifically, parental mindset about the fixed nature of intelligence may impact the goals they set for their children. In 1997, Ablard and Parker investigated the types of goals that parents of gifted students commonly held for their children. Although most parents of gifted students primarily held learning goals as opposed to performance goals for their children, the researchers also found that if parents of gifted students endorsed performance goals, their children were more likely to display characteristics of dysfunctional/maladaptive perfectionism. Specifically, the students reported a higher concern about mistakes, doubts about their actions, high parental expectations, and high levels of parental criticism. Because of this, interventions and curricula should also include parents so that the mindset of parents can be simultaneously addressed at the same time as their child's mindset.

In addition, interventions and curriculums should also include parents so that parents learn appropriate ways to talk with their children about their successes. Although it is sometimes natural and common for parents and teachers to praise students for their ability and achieved level of performance (especially for gifted students), Mueller and Dweck (1998) found that students who are praised for their intellect are more likely to endorse performance goals as opposed to learning goals. They also display less persistence, task enjoyment, and task performance after experiencing a failure. In addition, Mueller and Dweck also found that children who were praised for their intellect viewed intelligence as more of a fixed trait than those who were praised for hard work and their effort.

Siegle and McCoach (2005) explain that complimenting students should contain the elements that help them realize that their effort is resulting in skill development and that these skills are necessary to their success. Specifically, praise and compliments should be framed in such a way that parents and teachers acknowledge the ability of the student, while also recognizing that effort went into the development of that ability. By helping parents understand that their verbalization of praise can influence their child's mindset, schools will be in a better position to see results from growth mindset interventions and curriculums.

These findings suggest that the messages gifted students receive from their parents about their skills and hard work can have implications for their development of a fixed mindset. With this in mind, we must not only focus our intervention efforts on increasing the mindset of gifted students, but we must also focus our intervention efforts on changing the attitude and mindset of caregivers to ensure that gifted students are receiving a consistent message throughout their lives. It may be possible for this to be accomplished by increasing the collaboration between home and schools that are implementing growth mindset curricula.

Home-School Collaboration and Parent Education

Home school collaboration has become an increasingly important area of study as it has been shown to have a positive impact on the academic outcomes for children. Specifically, Esler, Godber, and Christenson (2008) indicate that home school collaboration can promote higher achievement, higher engagement, and reduced behavior problems, to name a few. More recently, studies have focused not only on the benefit of such outcomes but also the best processes for increasing home school collaboration (Esler et al., 2008).

Esler et al. (2008) describe the "eight P philosophy" as a process for increasing home school collaboration. First and foremost, home school collaboration must be seen as a priority. Schools should create a school-wide philosophy that reflects this belief and is disseminated to staff, parents, and the community. However, it must not only be communicated, it must also be seen as actionable. Allowing parents to share in the decision-making responsibilities of the school can accomplish this task. The second "P" is planned effort. This means that schools take the time to ask families how the school can help them, what their needs are, and inviting them to participate in programming. The third "P," proactive and persistent communication, indicates that communication should occur before a concern arises and should be ongoing throughout the year, across a variety of mediums. In the fourth "P," it is indicated that communication should be positive and should also include the parents' perspective. This communication, as described in the fifth "P," should be personalized and should be completed along with school wide communications. In addition, parents appreciate and value practical and specific suggestions to support their child at home. This is the sixth "P" and should include both universal and individualized suggestions for their child. The seventh "P" takes into consideration that the home school collaboration programs should be continually monitored for effectiveness. The eighth and final "P" suggests the process for building home school collaboration is more important than involvement activities lacking in a partnership. It is clear that, although important, increasing home school collaboration is not an easy and simple task. It requires time, effort, and planning to ensure effective partnerships are created to benefit the academic outcomes of students.

Although these strategies and suggestions may be beneficial in increasing the home school collaboration efforts for gifted students, some research suggests that the development of home-school collaboration for gifted students can be even more complex. Morawska and Sanders (2009) describe the lack of research on the specific needs of gifted and talented children and their families. They also describe some of the difficulties inherent in providing parenting programs to support parents with their gifted child. Despite offering nine sessions tailored to the needs of parents of gifted and talented children, Morawska and Sanders found that parents still did not feel that the program fully met their unique needs as a parent of a gifted child. Specifically, parents felt the program was good for parents of "normal" children but did not necessarily meet the needs specific to gifted and talented children. This provides just one example of how complex the development of a program for parenting of gifted and talented children can be and the need for further research in how to best meet the needs of this population through home and school collaboration.

However, additional research that looked specifically at the effectiveness of free parenting workshops for parents of gifted and talented children found that other workshops were beneficial in increasing the content knowledge of parents (Weber & Stanley, 2012). The results of these workshops were positive, demonstrating increases in pre/posttest measures on content knowledge. The authors recommended the following strategies when implementing parent education workshops: collaborating with outside organizations, including professionals in counseling for gifted, publicizing the event in advance, using a central location, providing transportation when needed, translating the information into other languages, minimizing cost to parents through other funding, and being aware of conflicting events. Although this once again shows the benefit of parent education increasing the knowledge of parents, it did not examine the effectiveness of this increased knowledge and how it did or did not translate into parenting practices at home.

Specifically related to growth mindset (but not gifted students), Elish-Piper (2014) explains ways in which teachers and parents can increase collaboration and partnerships to develop a growth mindset in students that are struggling with reading. She explains that the first step is for teachers and the school to share information about growth mindset with parents. Specifically, parents must learn how to model, encourage, and reinforce a growth mindset for their children (Fink, n.d., as cited in Elish-Piper, 2014). This could look like learning how to share personal experiences with their child

about things that were challenging to them or times in which they failed but persevered. Parents could also learn how to discuss the fact that time and effort is required in order to get better at something and the value in making mistakes and trying again. It could also look like parents learning how to teach their children to combat negative self-talk that is reflective of a fixed mindset. More importantly, it is about helping parents teach their children that frustration is ok, and modeling ways to overcome the challenge, without parents fixing the problem for them. The development of parental skills in this area will not only take teachers and schools providing parents knowledge opportunities about growth mindset, but also modeling, practice, and assistance from teachers and school officials on what this specifically looks like in action.

Although there have been several articles published that describe different techniques parents can use at home to support the motivation and achievement of gifted students or how parents of gifted children can be better supported (Morawska & Sanders, 2009; Siegle & McCoach, 2005; Weber & Stanley 2012), little specific research has been conducted on how parents and teachers can specifically work together to foster a growth mindset in gifted children. This is an area that must be addressed in order to examine whether the resources and supports provided by schools needs to extend beyond content based education classes for parents, and if so, what home school collaboration should look like in practice to enhance the effectiveness of growth mindset interventions.

Summary

According to a literature review, many studies have shown that specific curriculum related to mindset can have a positive effect on increasing growth mindset in

students. However, the literature also suggests that the messages gifted students receive from their parents about their skills and hard work can have implications for student mindset development. With this in mind, we must not only focus our intervention efforts on increasing the mindset of gifted students at school, but we must also focus our intervention efforts on the knowledge and involvement of caregivers with growth mindset concepts to ensure that gifted students are receiving a consistent message at home as well.

CHAPTER III

METHOD

In this study, the researcher used a mixed method case study design to explore the knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to the growth mindset instruction occurring within their child's gifted classroom. Specifically, the researcher used a survey to collect and analyze this data. The researcher utilized both quantitative and qualitative analyses of survey results, including coding and analyzing themes that emerged from open-ended items. Although a parent focus group was also planned, participants were unable to be recruited and thus more in depth parental perception data could not be collected.

The researcher also explored how teachers in the same school district can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts so that these concepts are further reinforced at home. Specifically, the researcher conducted a semi-structured interview through a focus group format with gifted teachers. The researcher then coded and analyzed the themes that emerged in the group's discussion.

Researcher's Role and Biases

The researcher is a school psychologist in Sunnydale District 100. She specifically worked within one of the elementary schools included in this study when data was collected. Although she did not directly work within the gifted program at this elementary school, she assisted with an acceleration evaluation for one student previously within the program. This student's family, however, would not have been within the designated study sample parameters given her grade level. In addition, because she worked at this elementary school for six years and participated in several school-wide functions, she may have informally met and talked to several of the families within the study's population. She also was a direct colleague of one of the gifted teachers within the study's population parameters. They had a previous history of consultation on an asneeded basis for a variety job related activities, including behavioral, emotional, and academic consultation. The researcher is also biased in believing that a growth mindset curriculum is a valuable use of time within the gifted program and should be expanded in order to enhance benefit. However, her lack of a direct role within the gifted program minimizes these biases.

Background Information

In Sunnydale District 100 (district name is pseudonym), students in grades 2-6 can be nominated for the gifted program based on their academic skill performance on district wide benchmarking procedures, their performance on the Cognitive Abilities Test, their performance on planned observations by the gifted teacher, and teacher/parent nomination. After nomination, students are also rated on the Scales for Identifying Gifted Children. This information is compiled and reviewed by a panel for determination of eligibility for gifted services. This nomination process typically begins in the winter of a student's second grade year and again in the winter of a student's sixth grade year. Parents or teachers can re-nominate students during any other year as well. Students can be identified as eligible for gifted services in the areas of reading, math, or both, to begin as early as 3^{rd} grade. If identified in the area of reading, elementary students within the gifted program receive gifted literacy services for 45 minutes a day, five days a week with a gifted specialist in addition to the core general education literacy instruction. If identified in the area of math, elementary students primarily receive gifted enrichment for math within their general education classroom until 6^{th} grade when they begin to receive gifted math services for 60 minutes a day, five days a week with a gifted specialist in replacement of the core general education math instruction.

In addition, students in the gifted program are exposed to growth mindset instructional activities during instruction with the gifted teacher. This began with 5th and 6th graders in 2014-2015 involving specific work with the Brainology® curriculum. In the following two years, 2015-2016 and 2016-2017, all grades 3-6 were exposed to teacher-designed lessons regarding growth mindset. In addition, annual parent information nights on growth mindset for gifted parents were provided in the fall of 2015 and 2016. These information nights were led by local experts in gifted education and mindset.

Description of Site

District

Sunnydale District 100 is comprised of six elementary schools (K-6) and one junior high school (7-8). The district is located in a western suburb of Chicago, with an approximate population of 33,476 people. The median household income is \$76,858.00.

There are 6.8% of individuals that are considered to be below the poverty level within the suburb. Ninety-five point eight percent are high school graduates or higher (United States Census Bureau, 2017).

According to the 2016-2017 Illinois State Report Card, there are 2,964 students enrolled within the district. The specific demographics of Sunnydale District 100 include: 44% of students are White, 30% of students are Hispanic, 14% of students are Black, 7% of students are Asian, 5% of students are two or more races, 0% of students are American Indian, and 0% of students are Pacific Islander. Forty-six percent of students are considered to be low-income. Due to the inherent differences between the junior high and elementary schools in Sunnydale District 100 (differences in structure and gifted programming), the junior high school was excluded from the current study. The total student population within the six elementary schools consists of 2,337 students. However, the student population was limited to 5th and 6th grade gifted students as these were the only grade levels in which the growth mindset instruction had been previously systematically provided. In 2016-2017, 54 students were identified as being in the gifted program in grades 5-6 per administrative report.

Participants

Parents. Convenience-sampling procedures were utilized to obtain as many parent participants as possible within the intended population for the survey and a follow up parent focus group. Participants of the parent survey included eight parents of 5^{th} and 6^{th} grade students currently enrolled in the gifted program at the elementary schools in

Sunnydale District 100. No participants were able to be recruited for the focus group. Demographic data for parent participants are presented in Table 1.

As shown in Table 1, the respondents' ages were distributed between 30-39 to between 50-59 years of age. A majority of respondents (n=6) were female with only 2 respondents being male. Six out of eight respondents were White, one respondent was Asian, and one respondent was Indian (South Asian). All respondents reported some level of college experience. Specifically, four respondents reported obtaining a graduate degree while three respondents reported obtaining a bachelor degree. One respondent reported obtaining some college but no degree. A majority of respondents (n=5) reported they were employed and working full time. One respondent indicated being employed and working part time and one respondent indicated not being employed and not looking for work. One respondent provided no response to this item. Table 1

Age 0 0.0 $18-20$ 0 0.0 $21-29$ 0 0.0 30.39 2 25.0 40.49 5 62.5 50.59 1 12.5 60 or older 0 0.0 Gender 2 25.0 Male 2 25.0 Female 6 75.0 Ethnicity Vite 6 75.0 Black or African American 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 From multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling Less than high school degree 1 12.5 Associate degree 0 0.0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Associate degree 0 0.0 0.0 Graduate degree 3 37.5 5 Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 <td< th=""><th>Characteristic</th><th>n</th><th>%</th></td<>	Characteristic	n	%
18-20 0 0.0 21-29 0 0.0 30-39 2 25.0 40-49 5 62.5 50-59 1 12.5 60 or older 0 0.0 Gender 2 25.0 Female 2 25.0 Ethnicity 6 75.0 Black or African American 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 From multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling 0 0.0 Less than high school degree 0 0.0 Some college but no degree 1 12.5 Associate degree 0 0.0 Bachelor degree 3 37.5 Employment Status Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 Employed, working part-time 1 12.5 Not employed, looking for work 0 0.0 Not employed, looking for wo	Age		
21-29 0 0.0 30.39 2 25.0 40.49 5 62.5 $50-59$ 1 12.5 60 or older 0 0.0 Gender 2 25.0 Female 2 25.0 Female 6 75.0 Ethnicity 75.0 1 White 6 75.0 Black or African American 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 From multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling 1 12.5 High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED) 0 0.0 Some college but no degree 1 12.5 Associate degree 3 37.5 Employment Status 5 62.5 Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 Employed, working part-time 1 12.5 Not employed, looking for work 0	18-20	0	0.0
30-39 2 25.0 $40-49$ 5 62.5 $50-59$ 1 12.5 60 or older 0 0.0 Gender 2 25.0 Male 2 25.0 Female 6 75.0 Ethnicity 6 75.0 Black or African American 0 0.0 American Indian or Alaskan Native 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 From multiple races 0 0.0 Form multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling $UEss$ than high school degree 0 0.0 Some college but no degree 1 12.5 $Associate degree$ 3 37.5 Employment Status $Employed$, working full-time 5 62.5 62.5 Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 62.5 Not employed, looking for work 0	21-29	0	0.0
40-495 62.5 $50-59$ 1 12.5 60 or older0 0.0 Gender2 25.0 Female6 75.0 Ethnicity6 75.0 Black or African American0 0.0 American Indian or Alaskan Native0 0.0 Asian1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander0 0.0 From multiple races0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian)1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling $Less$ than high school degree0 0.0 Some college but no degree1 12.5 Associate degree0 0.0 0.0 Graduate degree3 37.5 Employed, working full-time5 62.5 Employed, working full-time1 12.5 Not employed, looking for work0 0.0	30-39	2	25.0
50-59112.5 $60 or older$ 00.0GenderMale225.0Female675.0Ethnicity 6 75.0Ethnicity00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling 1 12.5Highest Level of Schooling 1 12.5Associate degree00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree337.5Employment Status $Employed$, working full-time5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work12.5	40-49	5	62.5
60 or older00.0GenderMale225.0Female675.0Ethnicity675.0Ethnicity675.0Black or African American00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5High school degree00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Graduate degree337.5Employment StatusEmployed, working full-time562.5Employed, working full-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work00.0	50-59	1	12.5
Gender Male 2 25.0 Female 6 75.0 Ethnicity 6 75.0 Ethnicity 0 0.0 Materican Indian or Alaskan Native 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 Form multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling 0 0.0 Less than high school degree 0 0.0 Machelor degree 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling 0 0.0 Genduate degree 0 0.0 Some college but no degree 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling 0 0.0 Graduate degree 3 37.5 Employment Status 5 62.5 Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 Employed, working full-time 1 12.5 Not employed, looking for work 0 0.0 Not employeed, looking for work 0<	60 or older	0	0.0
Male225.0Female675.0Ethnicity675.0Black or African American00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5Highest Level of School degree00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	Gender		
Female675.0EthnicityWhite675.0Black or African American00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling1Less than high school degree00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree337.5Employment Status1Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working for work00.0Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	Male	2	25.0
Ethnicity White 6 75.0 Black or African American 0 0.0 American Indian or Alaskan Native 0 0.0 Asian 1 12.5 Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0 0.0 From multiple races 0 0.0 Some other race: Indian (South Asian) 1 12.5 Highest Level of Schooling Less than high school degree 0 0.0 High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED) 0 0.0 Some college but no degree 1 12.5 Associate degree 0 0.0 Bachelor degree 4 50.0 Graduate degree 3 37.5 Employment Status Employed, working full-time 5 62.5 Employed, working part-time 1 12.5 Not employed, looking for work 0 0.0	Female	6	75.0
White675.0Black or African American00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5Less than high school degree00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, NOT looking for work112.5	Ethnicity		
Black or African American00.0American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling	White	6	75.0
American Indian or Alaskan Native00.0Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of SchoolingImage: Comparison of the parameter of the p	Black or African American	0	0.0
Asian112.5Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	American Indian or Alaskan Native	0	0.0
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander00.0From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	Asian	1	12.5
From multiple races00.0Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling112.5Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working for work00.0Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, NOT looking for work112.5	Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	0	0.0
Some other race: Indian (South Asian)112.5Highest Level of Schooling Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	From multiple races	0	0.0
Highest Level of Schooling00.0Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	Some other race: Indian (South Asian)	1	12.5
Less than high school degree00.0High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Not employed, looking for work00.0	Highest Level of Schooling		
High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)00.0Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0	Less than high school degree	0	0.0
Some college but no degree112.5Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, NOT looking for work112.5	High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)	0	0.0
Associate degree00.0Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, NOT looking for work112.5	Some college but no degree	1	12.5
Bachelor degree450.0Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, looking for work112.5	Associate degree	0	0.0
Graduate degree337.5Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed, NOT looking for work112.5	Bachelor degree	4	50.0
Employment Status562.5Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed NOT looking for work112.5	Graduate degree	3	37.5
Employed, working full-time562.5Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed NOT looking for work112.5	Employment Status		
Employed, working part-time112.5Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed NOT looking for work112.5	Employed, working full-time	5	62.5
Not employed, looking for work00.0Not employed NOT looking for work112.5	Employed, working part-time	1	12.5
Not employed NOT looking for work 1 125	Not employed, looking for work	0	0.0
	Not employed, NOT looking for work	1	12.5
Retired 0 0.0	Retired	0	0.0
Disabled, not able to work 0 0.0	Disabled, not able to work	0	0.0
No Response 1 12.5	No Response	1	12.5

Background and Demographics of Parent Participants
--

Note. For each category N=8.
In addition to this demographic data, parent participants were also asked about the demographics of their child and their child's participation in the gifted program (see Table 2).

As shown in Table 2, the ages of respondents' children were between 10-12 years old. Five children were in 6th grade, while three children were in 5th grade. Five out of eight of the respondents' children were White, and one respondent's child was Asian, one respondent's child was multi-racial, and one respondent's child was Indian (South Asian). None of the respondents' children qualified for Free and Reduced Lunch. A majority (n=6) of respondents' children began initial participation in the gifted program in 3rd grade, while two respondents' children began initial participation in the gifted program in 3rd grade. This means that all children had been in the gifted program for at least a year. A majority (n=7) of respondents' children qualified for both English/Language Arts and Math gifted services. One respondent reported not knowing whether or not their child qualified for English/Language Arts services, math services, or both.

Table 2

Characteristic	n	%
Age of Child		
10	3	37.5
11	2	25.0
12	3	37.5
Grade of Child		
5 th Grade	3	37.5
6 th Grade	5	62.5
Ethnicity		
White	5	62.5
Black or African American	0	0.0
American Indian or Alaskan Native	0	0.0
Asian	1	12.5
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	0	0.0
From multiple races	1	12.5
Some other race: Indian (South Asian)	1	12.5
Free and Reduced Lunch Qualification		
Yes	0	0.0
No	8	100.0
I don't know	0	0.0
Grade of Child's Initial Participation in Gifted Instruction		
3 rd Grade	6	75.0
4 th Grade	2	25.0
5 th Grade	0	0.0
6 th Grade	0	0.0
I don't know	0	0.0
Subject of Child's Gifted Instruction		
English/Language Arts Only	0	0.0
Math Only	0	0.0
Both English/Language Arts and Math	7	87.5
I don't know	1	12.5

Background and Demographics of Parent Participants' Child in the Gifted Program

Note. For each category N=8.

Teachers. Purposive sampling procedures were utilized in which all gifted teachers (six) at the elementary level were recruited to participate in the teacher focus group. Three of the six elementary gifted teachers from Sunnydale Elementary 100 participated. All three of the participants of the teacher focus group completed a survey after focus group completion that requested information related to demographics and educational background (see Table 3).

As shown in Table 3, the respondents' ages were distributed between 30-39 to between 50-59 years of age. All respondents (n=3) indicated that they are female and White. Two respondents indicated earning their Bachelor Degree in Education, while one respondent indicated earning their Bachelor Degree in Business/Economics. All three respondents earned different Master degrees including: Teaching, Reading, and Master of Science in Language and Literacy. One respondent indicated receiving their Middle School Math endorsement and National Board Certificate, and one respondent indicated receiving their Certificate of Advanced Studies: The Gifted as well as a Technology Specialist endorsement. One reported not earning any specific endorsements. Participants reported each individually teaching for 11, 13, and 22 years with 3 of the 11 years being within the district, 12 of the 13 years being within the district, and 4 of the 22 years being within the district. The number of years they specifically taught students within gifted education was 8, 3, and 17 years, respectively. Table 3

Characteristic	n	%
Age		
18-20	0	0.0
21-29	0	0.0
30-39	1	33.3
40-49	1	33.3
50-59	1	33.3
60 or older	0	0.0
Gender		
Male	0	0.0
Female	3	100.0
Ethnicity		
White	3	100.0
Black or African American	0	0.0
American Indian or Alaskan Native	0	0.0
Asian	0	0.0
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	0	0.0
From multiple races	0	0.0
Some other race	0	0.0
Degrees Obtained		
Bachelors Degree in Education	2	66.6
Bachelors Degree in Business/Economics	1	33.3
Master Degree in Teaching	1	33.3
Master Degree in Reading	1	33.3
Master of Science in Language & Literacy	1	33.3
Endorsements Received		
Middle School Math	1	33.3
Certificate of Advanced Studies: The Gifted	1	33.3
Technology Specialist Endorsement	1	33.3
National Board Certificate	1	33.3
Not Applicable	1	33.3
Number of Years Teaching		
11	1	33.3
13	1	33.3
22	1	33.3

Background and Demographics of Teacher Focus Group Participants

Number of Years Teaching in District		
3	1	33.3
4	1	33.3
12	1	33.3
Number of Years Teaching Gifted Edu	cation	
3	1	33.3
8	1	33.3
17	1	33.3

Note. For each category N=3.

Data Collection

Instruments

Parent survey. A researcher-created survey titled *Gifted Instruction* was completed by eight parents of 5th and 6th grade gifted students in Sunnydale District 100 (see Appendix A). The main purpose of the survey was to assess current parent knowledge of, exposure to, and involvement with concepts surrounding growth mindset. An additional purpose of the survey included the gathering of demographic information. Specifically, the survey was designed to address one main research questions with four sub-questions. This included:

- 1. What impact has the current growth mindset practices in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district had on parents?
 - a. What do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 within a small suburbanK-8 district currently know regarding the concept of growth mindset?
 - b. What do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 within a small suburban K-8 district report regarding their exposure to the concept of growth mindset?

c. What do parents report regarding their level of involvement with the growth mindset instruction being provided within a small suburban K-8 district?

```
d. Is there a relationship between the level of what parents of gifted students
in grades 5-6 know regarding growth mindset and their current reported
exposure or involvement with the growth mindset instruction occurring
within a small suburban K-8 district?
```

The survey was developed by the researcher and was administered online utilizing Survey Monkey. A mail in option was also available but was not requested by any respondents. The survey contained 28 close-ended and open-ended items divided into four sections: knowledge (13 items), involvement/exposure (3 items), additional information (1 item), and demographic information (11 items). The open-ended items were placed in the survey prior to the close-ended items so that respondents would not be primed when answering the open-ended items. According to information provided by Survey Monkey, the time it took respondents to complete the survey ranged from five minutes to 33 minutes. At the end of the survey, a link to a second survey was provided (see Appendix B). Respondents were requested to click on the link to the second survey if they were willing to provide their information (in their desired medium) to be contacted regarding participation in a follow-up focus group. This second survey was not connected to the original survey and responses were recorded separately. A mailed version of this second survey was available but was not requested by any respondents. No parents responded to this second survey to participate in the follow-up focus group.

Parent focus group. A focus group was not completed with parents of 5th and 6th grade gifted students in Sunnydale District 100 due to a lack of participant interest. Open-ended items had been prepared and a protocol was developed (see Appendix C). The interview questions were intended to address one main research question and two sub-questions:

- 2. How do parents of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward?
 - a. How do parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 district perceive their role in developing a growth mindset for their children?
 - b. How would parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 district like collaboration to occur between the child's teacher and themselves with regard to developing a growth mindset for their children?

Thus, this research question and sub-questions were not answered in the current study.

Teacher focus group. A focus group was completed with three elementary gifted teachers from Sunnydale District 100. Specifically, a semi-structured face-to-face group interview was conducted by the researcher. Six open-ended questions were prepared prior to the semi-structured interview along with a protocol (see Appendix D). The group interview lasted approximately 25 minutes. The interview questions were intended to address one main research question with two sub-questions:

- 3. How do gifted teachers of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward?
 - a. How do teachers of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 district perceive the parents' role in developing a growth mindset for the children in the gifted program?
 - b. How would teachers of gifted students in grades 5-6 in the small suburban K-8 district like collaboration to occur between the parents and themselves with regard to developing a growth mindset for children in the gifted program?

The researcher utilized two digital recording devices. Two devices were used in case of technological malfunction. After the recording was complete, the researcher transcribed the recording for later analysis and deleted the original audio recordings.

Teacher survey. Following the completion of the focus group, the researcher also utilized a survey to collect additional information about the teachers that participated in the focus group. Specifically, the survey requested the teachers to provide demographic and background information including gender, age, race, education, and work experience (see Appendix E).

Procedure

Parents. A recruitment letter describing the purpose of the study was emailed to parents of the 5^{th} and 6^{th} grade gifted students. For those families without an email address, the recruitment letter was mailed home. The letter was signed by the researcher

but was sent by the district's Gifted Coordinator. In addition to describing the purpose of the study, this letter requested a parent of the family to participate in the researcher created online Survey Monkey survey (see Appendix A). A link to the online survey was provided within the letter and parents were able to click on the link or type the link into a web browser to begin the study. If preferred, parents were given contact information for the researcher in order to request a mailed version of the survey. Parents were asked to complete the survey at some point within a two-week time frame. For the online version, implied consent was collected by informing respondents that their completion of the online survey constituted their consent to participate. For the mailed version, a written informed consent was requested to be mailed back in a separate self-addressed, stamped envelope from the original survey.

At the end of the online survey, respondents were requested to click on a link to a second survey if they were willing to provide their information (in their desired medium) to be contacted regarding participation in a follow-up focus group (see Appendix B). This second survey was not connected to the original survey and responses were recorded separately. If a mailed version of the survey had been requested, a second survey would have been included and if they were willing to participate in the follow-up focus group, they would have been asked to also return this second survey in a different self-addressed, stamped envelope from the original survey.

After the two-week time frame, the district's Gifted Coordinator emailed another recruitment letter to parents of 5th and 6th grade gifted students. Once again, for those families without an email address listed, the recruitment letter was mailed home. This

letter was also signed by the researcher but sent by the district's Gifted Coordinator. The letter referred to the original recruitment letter, thanked those who had already participated in the survey, and reminded those that had not yet had a chance, that they could complete the survey within another two-week time frame. All other procedures were the same as during the original recruitment phase.

The researcher collected eight valid parent surveys using this procedure. These surveys were considered valid because respondents indicated their child's grade level and participation in the gifted programming as being accurate for the study's parameters. There were no follow up focus group surveys received from parents.

Despite the lack of interest in participating in the parent focus group, a follow-up recruitment script had been created in the event parents had shown interest in participation. This script was intended to be used over email or phone, depending on the preference of contact method indicated by the parent. However, because no parents volunteered for the focus group portion of the study, the script was not utilized. In addition, interview questions and a protocol were created for the focus group but were not utilized (see Appendix C).

Teachers. A recruitment letter describing the purpose of the study was emailed to gifted teachers of the 5th and 6th grade gifted students. The letter was signed and sent by the district's Gifted Coordinator. In addition to describing the purpose of the study, this letter requested teacher participation in a focus group with the researcher. Specifically, teachers were requested to email the researcher for further information about the focus group by a specific deadline.

Upon receiving responses from the teachers, the focus group was scheduled at a mutually agreed upon time and within the junior high of Sunnydale District 100. Three teachers participated in the focus group. The focus group lasted approximately 25 minutes and was led by the researcher. To begin, informed consent was reviewed which included permission to audio record the focus group. All participants signed consent for participation. The researcher then assigned a simple identifying number to each participant so that the researcher could more easily track who responded to a question on the audio recording. The researcher then began audio recording and followed the focus group protocol (see Appendix D). At the end of questioning, participants were thanked for their time and the recording was stopped. Participants were also reminded of confidentiality. Transcripts of the audio recordings occurred as soon as feasible after the focus group was completed. The transcription only included the numerical identification codes so as to de-identify participants. The audio recording was then destroyed and the transcription was sent to a second coder for separate analysis.

The researcher later emailed a brief demographic survey through Survey Monkey to the teacher focus group participants in order to gain demographic and background information about participants (see Appendix E). The researcher received three valid responses, as there were three participants in the focus group.

Data Analysis

A mixed method, exploratory design was used for this study (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2007). Specifically, the researcher first utilized descriptive analysis techniques to analyze the demographic and background characteristics of the parent and teacher samples. The researcher analyzed the data at both the individual level, as well as by a summary of responses for each demographic and background item with the assistance of the Survey Monkey cloud based software.

In addition, descriptive analyses were conducted utilizing SPSS to provide overall group mean and standard deviation information with regard to the variables of parent knowledge, exposure, and involvement with growth mindset concepts. Pearson correlational analyses to explore the relationship between these variables could not be conducted due to small sample size. However, review of the raw data was completed.

The researcher then utilized qualitative procedures to analyze results of the openended parent survey items as well as the transcripts from the teacher focus group. This was done through content analysis methods of constant comparison analysis. As described by Leech and Onwuegbuzie (2008), constant comparison analysis methods are utilized to build theory, analyze data, understand multiple meanings from data, provide a process by which data can be analyzed, and assist researchers in seeing and creating relationships among themes. This includes the systematic process of open coding, axial coding, and then selective coding.

During the open coding stage, the researcher and a second coder separately read through each transcript multiple times. Then, they began assigning codes to specific ideas individually. Once this was complete, the researcher and the second coder both individually drafted a code book that contained a list of all of the codes, the definition for each code, a description of when to use each code, a description of when not to use each code, and sample quotes involving the code. The researcher and the second coder then met and discussed the codebooks they each created. From this, they created a master codebook in which they both agreed on each code, definition of each code, description of when to use each code, description of when not to use each code, and sample quotes that would be representative of each code. This led to 100% agreement on codes that were present in the master codebook.

The researcher and second coder continued to discuss the codebook, by grouping the individual codes into categories, as a part of the axial coding stage. Agreement was reached that eight main categories were present among both the parent survey and the teacher focus group. Once again, 100% agreement on categories was reached.

Once the researcher and the second coder agreed on the master code book, they each separately re-coded each transcript utilizing the master codebook. They each underlined segments that pertained to particular codes and wrote the code above the segment. The second coder returned her transcripts to the researcher for reliability analysis to be completed before the next stage.

After reliability analysis was completed and further consensus in assigning codes was reached, the researcher then re-reviewed and further analyzed the categories for more general concepts and themes to answer the research questions for the current study. This was the stage of selective coding.

Trustworthiness

Steps were taken to ensure the validity and reliability of the data obtained from this study. Specifically, because the parent survey and focus group protocols were

researcher created measures, there is no existing information on the validity or reliability of these data sources. However, steps were taken to ensure validity of these tools.

The researcher created the parent survey and focus group questions based on her research and understanding of growth mindset concepts and home-school collaboration. This included key concepts, definitions, and findings discussed in research articles and books. In addition to this, the survey and focus group questions were reviewed by the researcher's chair and committee members. Updates to the survey and focus group questions were then further reviewed by the researcher's chair.

In addition, to ensure trustworthiness of the open-ended survey data as well as the focus group data, inter-coder agreement was utilized with a second coder. As described previously, this led to 100% agreement between codes and categories within a master codebook that was utilized to conduct the final analysis of the transcripts. However, when the researcher returned to compare the separate coded transcripts that were completed with the utilization of the master codebook, 100% similarity in coding had not been reached. Conflicts were discussed and resolved through a consensual coding process. Validity checks were then completed by the researcher by going back to the raw data to identify participant quotes to fit identified themes, searching for alternative explanations, and using self-reflexivity.

Some techniques described by Nastasi and Schensul (2005) for ensuring trustworthiness of qualitative data were also utilized including triangulation and thick descriptions. Specifically, triangulation involves utilizing multiple sources and methods (Nastasi & Schensul, 2005). Both parents and teachers were sources of information in the current study as well as both survey and focus group procedures. Thick descriptions were also utilized in which detailed information was provided regarding the study's participants, context, and procedures (Nastasi & Schensul, 2005).

Summary

The researcher wanted to explore the current knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to growth mindset instruction occurring within their child's gifted classroom. In addition, the researcher also wanted to explore how teachers in the same school district can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts so that these concepts are further reinforced at home. In order to do this, the researcher created a survey to assess the knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students. The researcher also developed a semi-structured interview to be used in a focus group format to gather teacher perceptions of how to increase home school collaboration related to growth mindset. A mixed method exploratory design was utilized. Quantitative data was analyzed through descriptive statistics and qualitative data was analyzed through constant comparison analysis. To ensure validity and reliability of the data, researcher created measures were reviewed by committee members and the committee chair. In addition, 100% inter-coder agreement was reached for open-ended survey and focus group data. The researcher used validity checks (fitting participant quotes to identified themes, searching for alternative explanations, and self-reflexivity) as well as triangulation of sources and thick descriptions to improve trustworthiness of the data.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Parent Survey

Parent Knowledge of Growth Mindset Concepts

The researcher first analyzed current parent knowledge of growth mindset concepts. Parent knowledge was assessed utilizing both close- and open-ended items (see Appendix A). For the close-ended items, respondents needed to correctly answer 10 items regarding terminology, examples, and outcomes of growth and fixed mindsets. Respondents received one point for every correct response. A higher score indicated a higher level of growth mindset knowledge whereas a lower score indicated a lower level of growth mindset knowledge. The minimum score possible was "0" while the maximum score possible was "10." All participants provided an answer to every item. One respondent indicated "I don't know" for 2 of the 10 items and one respondent indicated "I don't know" for 1 of the 10 items. Responses of "I don't know" were scored a "0." The range of participants' scores was from 4 to10. However, all scores were an 8, 9, or 10 with the exception of the one score of 4. The average score was 8 (SD = 1.77). This indicates a relatively high level of basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts for a majority of the sample based on the survey items. There were four items that all participants answered correctly which included: (1) What kind of mindset do you think is the belief that intelligence cannot be changed even with hard work, effort, and

perseverance; (2) If a student says, "I'm just not good at that," "No matter what I do, I won't get better," or "I give up, it's just too hard," what type of mindset do you think they are most likely to have?; (3) If a student says, "Even though this is hard, I am going to keep trying," "This may be hard now, but I will learn from it," or "With extra effort, I know I can accomplish this," what mindset do you think they are likely to have?; and (4) To increase a growth mindset in students, what do you think is the best way to praise a student?

Upon analyzing the written responses to the three open-ended items related to respondents' knowledge of growth mindset concepts, it was confirmed that most participants had a relatively high level of basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts. The exception to this was one respondent that indicated "I don't know" for all three open-ended items. This respondent also received the lowest knowledge score of 4 from the closed ended items. There was only one other respondent that indicated "I don't know" for one of the open-ended items. When analyzing the remaining written responses, the following categories emerged from the data to demonstrate the respondents' understanding of growth mindset concepts.

Theme 1: Growth Mindset is A Belief Regarding Learning and Improvement

One of the themes that emerged from the responses was that growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement. All of the respondents identified the aspect of learning and improvement in some way at least once when answering any of the three open-ended items. In addition five of the seven respondents identified the aspect that growth mindset is a belief in some way. Below are excerpts from some of the participants' written responses:

Respondent #1:

In my opinion it is a philosophy that encourages people to think about improving themselves...With a growth mindset you are striving to grow or be in a better place than where you started...

Respondent #4:

A growth mindset is a belief that you can also learn and do more.

Respondent #5:

...the ability to gain or have access to information that causes deeper thought for an issue.

Respondent #6:

... growth mindset is based on the theory that talent can be developed...

Respondent #7:

Continual learning, not thinking you know it all already.

A small number of respondents (two) also identified the aspect that improvement is a result of making mistakes and overcoming obstacles while also describing growth mindset as a belief regarding learning and improvement. This addition demonstrated a deeper understanding among these two participants. Below are excerpts from the participants' written responses:

Respondent #2:

A growth mindset is the ability to embrace mistakes as a learning opportunity. It is a practice of belief that growing and learning is the results of failures and overcoming obstacles is part of the journey.

Respondent #8

I would explain a growth mindset as a flexible way of thinking, or thinking outside the box, as a way to teach young people so that they can make mistakes, learn and grow in many different ways, and not just go down one path of thinking.

One respondent also described growth mindset as being universal, while another described the importance of effort within growth mindset. Although these are important aspects of growth mindset concepts, they were not concepts identified by more than one respondent.

Theme 2: Innate Abilities and Obtaining a Criterion are Contradictory to Having a Growth Mindset

Another theme that emerged from responses, particularly from the second openended item, was the description of different factors that contradicted a growth mindset. In other words, the participants described a fixed mindset which is known to be the opposite of growth mindset. The common factors participants included were the concepts of innate abilities and trying to obtain a certain criterion. Four of the seven respondents identified the aspect that growth mindset beliefs are contradictory to beliefs regarding innate abilities while three of the seven respondents identified the aspect that the desire to obtain a certain criterion undermines the concept of growth mindset. Below are excerpts from some of the respondents' written responses:

Respondent #1

I think the difference is that with a fixed mindset you are reaching toward a particular score or grade. With a growth mindset you are striving to grow or be in a better place than where you started.

Respondent #2

A fixed mindset= "I'm not good at math." A growth mindset= "I'm going to learn the first step and move on from there until I understand fractions.

Respondent #4

A fixed mindset indicates you are not able to grow beyond the abilities you are born with. It can limit the amount of growth that a person has because they feel limited by past events and are unable to continue growing and changing their possible limitations.

Respondent #6

While growth mindset is based on the theory that talent can be developed, fixed mindset is based on the theory that talent is innate.

Respondent #7

A fixed mindset thinks they know it and their way is the best. Not open to continual learning and questioning the status quo.

Two respondents also indicated in the other open-ended items that perfectionism is detrimental to having a growth mindset. Although this is an important aspect of growth mindset concepts, it was not something that was identified consistently throughout.

Theme 3: Encouraging Learning and Improvement with Their Children Helps to Promote a Growth Mindset

A final theme that emerged from responses was that parents are providing encouragement to their children toward learning and improvement in order to promote a growth mindset. All of the respondents identified this aspect of encouraging learning and improvement within the third open-ended item. Below are excerpts from some of the participants' written responses:

Respondent #1

Encourage them to think about how they can do better or improve their work, regardless of the grade they got. Point out where they are in relation to where they were last year, celebrate that vs. celebrating a grade or score.

Respondent #4

Ask questions. Encourage them to do more and do research on their own. Encourage them to explore the things that interest them. Challenge them.

Respondent #5

I believe that letting them try to solve a problem and guiding them with different options, as well as showing them how to obtain information themselves.

Respondent #6

By challenging them and encouraging them to work hard to learn and provide ample resources and opportunities for them to learn at home and school.

Respondent #7

Also tell them to ask questions. Question authority, never accept "because I said so" as an answer.

As described previously in the Theme 1, two participants also identified the aspect of making mistakes related to growth mindset. These same participants indicated they would help their children accept mistakes. This addition, once again, demonstrated a deeper understanding among these two participants. Below are excerpts from the participants' written responses:

Respondent #2:

I try to instill the idea of switching their perception of mistakes/frustration to an opportunity to rise to a challenge. And the idea that learning never ends so to try to release the feeling of pressure to get it right away.

Respondent #8

Allowing them to have an idea and test it for themselves...see what works and what fails, without telling them what you think is likely to happen. Children need to not be afraid to fail or think in black and white in order to growth and develop their critical thinking.

One respondent also described ideas of providing challenges and encouraging hard work. Although these are important aspects of growth mindset concepts, it was not something that was identified consistently throughout.

After analysis of the parental knowledge closed and open-ended items on the survey, the researcher determined that all but one participant had a relatively high level of

basic understanding of growth mindset concepts. Three themes were identified from the open-ended items that confirmed this basic level of understanding from parents. The three themes that emerged were: (1) growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement, (2) innate abilities and obtaining a criterion are contradictory to having a growth mindset, and that a growth mindset can be promoted by (3) encouraging learning and improvement with their children.

Parent Exposure to Growth Mindset Concepts

The researcher then analyzed current parent exposure to growth mindset concepts. This was assessed with one close-ended item. Specifically, respondents marked whether any or all of the four statements related to exposure of growth mindset concepts applied to them (see Appendix A). Respondents received one point for every marked exposure item. A higher score indicated a higher level of exposure to the concepts of growth mindset whereas a lower score indicated a lower level of exposure to the concepts of growth mindset. The minimum score possible was "0" while the maximum score possible was "4." All participants provided an answer to every item. One respondent indicated "I don't know" for 2 of the 4 items and one respondent indicated "I don't know" for 1 of the 4 items. Responses of "I don't know" were scored a "0." The range of participants' scores was from 1-4. However, most scores were 3 or 4 with the exception of one score of 1 and two scores of 2. The average respondents' score was 3 (SD = 1.20). This indicates a relatively high level of exposure to growth mindset concepts for a majority of the sample based on the survey items. All respondents indicated hearing the term growth mindset prior to completing the survey, while six out

of eight participants indicated hearing the term growth mindset specifically from their child's teacher/school/district while one respondent indicated only hearing the term from outside resources.

Parent Involvement with Growth Mindset Concepts

Finally, the researcher analyzed current parent involvement with growth mindset concepts. This was assessed with both close and open-ended items (see Appendix A). For the close-ended item, respondents marked whether five statements related to growth mindset involvement applied to them. Respondents received one point for every marked involvement item. A higher score indicated a higher level of involvement with the concepts of growth mindset whereas a lower score indicated a lower level of involvement with the concepts of growth mindset. The minimum score possible was "0" while the maximum score possible was "5." All participants provided an answer to every item. One respondent indicated "I don't know" for 1 of the 5 items. The response of "I don't know" was scored a "0." The range of participants' scores was from 0-5. The average respondents' score was 3 (SD = 1.69) indicating a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts across the sample based on the survey items. All but one respondent indicated implementing growth mindset strategies with their child at home, with five of the seven of these respondents indicating that they have also spoken directly to their gifted child about growth mindset concepts. In addition, of the seven respondents that reported implementing growth mindset strategies with their child at home, six of them indicated that they either attended the parent information session on growth mindset provided by the district and/or spoke to their child's teacher or another

school staff member about growth mindset concepts. Only two respondents indicated only reading additional outside information regarding growth mindset not provided by their child's gifted teacher/school/district but still implementing growth mindset strategies at home.

Upon analyzing the written responses to the open-ended item related to participant involvement with growth mindset concepts, it was confirmed that some participants had a moderate level of involvement with growth mindset concepts while others had a low level of involvement. Two respondents explained their involvement by describing specific growth mindset strategies they use at home with their children. Four respondents explained their involvement by either describing broad generalizations of growth mindset strategies they use at home with their children or by solely reading/ researching about growth mindset concepts. The two other respondents either did not respond to the question or simply reported, "low" to their level of involvement. When further analyzing the written responses, the following categories emerged from the data to demonstrate respondents' involvement with growth mindset concepts.

Theme 1: Promotion of and/or Active Use of Strategies at Home

One of the themes that emerged from the participants' responses was that parents reported primarily being involved with growth mindset concepts by the way they promoted or actively used growth mindset strategies at home with their children. Five of the six respondents that fully answered the item described this level of involvement by promoting a growth mindset environment at home by the way they spoke with their children or utilized different learning opportunities to promote growth mindset. However, as mentioned above, the specificity of strategies varied among participants.

Below are excerpts from some of the participants' written responses:

Respondent #3

I encourage my kids to not give up on something just because it is hard. I use real life examples on how they have learned new skills in the past and how it was hard in the beginning.

Respondent #4

I think I am as involved as the teachers because at home the same atmosphere can be fostered.

Respondent #5

I personally believe that with the right learning environment at home and school and with the right guidance and motivation, one could achieve anything they want to.

Respondent #6

We've always taught our kids to question everything. To think of both side of every question. Being able to debate the side you're most opposed to teaches you to think from the others perspective and understand that theirs multiple side to an issue.

Theme 2: Reading/Researching

Another theme that emerged from the participants' responses was that some parents reported reading information about growth mindset. However, this was only reported by two of the six respondents that fully answered the item, thus this was not a theme that was consistent throughout. Below are excerpts from the participants' written responses:

Respondent #1

It is something I have heard about and mentioned on teacher blogs. Also, I see a lot of products about it promoted on Teachers Pay Teachers.

Respondent #2

I have read a small bit. I should actively practice it more. I find myself falling into old habits of definitive language.

After analysis of the parental involvement closed and open-ended items on the survey, the researcher determined that participants had a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts. One parent indicated directly that their involvement was "low," while another chose to skip the item. Aside from this, two themes emerged that separated involvement from being limited to reading/researching about growth mindset concepts to promoting and/or actively using growth mindset strategies in the home with their children. However, the specificity of growth mindset strategies being used at home varied among participants.

Correlations between Parent Knowledge, Exposure, and Involvement

Because of small sample size, Pearson correlations to explore the relationship between the close-ended items related to parent knowledge and exposure, parent knowledge and involvement, and parent exposure and involvement could not be completed as intended. However, a review of raw data appears to show a trend in the direction that the higher a parent's exposure to growth mindset concepts, the higher their level of knowledge about growth mindset concepts, and vice versa. In addition, the data appears to be trending in the direction that the higher a parent's involvement with growth mindset concepts, the higher their level of knowledge about growth mindset concepts, and vice versa. When examining the relationship between parental exposure to growth mindset concepts and parental involvement with growth mindset concepts, raw data appears to show a trend that the higher the parents' exposure to growth mindset concepts, the higher their involvement with growth mindset concepts, and vice versa. A larger data set would be beneficial to determine whether a significant correlation between these variables actually exists by calculating Pearson correlations. However, this analysis would not speak to the causality of the effect of these variables on each other.

Teacher Focus Group

After the completion of the parent survey, the researcher conducted a focus group with the gifted teachers of 5-6th grade students (see Appendix D). During the focus group, panel members were asked to share their perceptions of the value of the growth mindset work being done in their classrooms. They were also asked what role they felt teachers should have in promoting growth mindset concepts with students and what role they felt parents should have in promoting growth mindset concepts with students. Furthermore, the discussion then consisted of what resources they felt were necessary for parents to reinforce these concepts at home and how teachers and parents could work together to promote these concepts. Participants provided in depth information on their beliefs surrounding growth mindset while also providing possible ideas on how to further

increase home school collaboration in the future. The following themes emerged from the data.

Theme 1: Growth Mindset Activities Are Currently Being Utilized in the Classroom to Promote Growth Mindset

Upon asking the gifted teachers about the value of the growth mindset work being done in the classroom, they first described and explained the practices that were being completed in their classrooms. Specifically, the teachers described lessons, activities, and teacher led discussions in which the goal is to promote effort, improvement, and thus a growth mindset in gifted students. This included projects students complete throughout a trimester, student goal setting, and ongoing discussions and modeling of concepts. All three respondents explained these types of activities in some way or showed agreement with others in the focus group. Below are some excerpts from the participants' responses:

Respondent #2:

... Our theme for the year is changes... the first trimester is going to be about perseverance and mindset and about what makes a leader... what qualities they have that separate them from other people...

Respondent #2:

...we do talks about perseverance and...famous failures and people who took...thousands of tries to get something right...

Respondent #3:

...the students have to create a social emotional goal and I focused mine around the habits of mind which we start with talking about more of the growth mindset vs. fixed mindset ... then we go into habits of mind and the students develop... a social emotional goal based on that, on one of those habits...

Respondent #1:

Also we start the year with...setting SMART goals...to talk about how we have to set goals and achieve goals and set new goals or higher goals...One thing I really try to do is just instead of just teaching them a lesson about growth mindset...fixed mindset just using that vocabulary every single day...

Respondent #3

...that's something I'm looking forward to doing with the unit next...year...I think it will carry on throughout the year as well, it's not just going to be set with this trimester, I think we will carry on...

Theme 2: Growth Mindset Work is Valuable Because of Characteristics of Gifted Students

When probed further about the specific value the teachers feel this instruction has for gifted students, the teachers described characteristics of gifted students and why they feel that growth mindset work is important for them. This included discussion of how things typically come easily to gifted students and that the students can become frustrated and lack perseverance when faced with challenges or making mistakes. Two of the three respondents identified these ideas and the importance they feel in doing growth mindset activities because of it. The third respondent also discussed the desire many gifted students have to obtain a certain grade or mark. Another participant showed agreement with her response. Below are excerpts from the participants' responses:

Respondent #3:

...I feel like gifted students totally have that fixed mindset...they give up if they don't, ya know, get something right away...they lack persistence...even when their faced with a challenge... they don't push themselves to, ya know, get it...so I feel like there is a huge value in teaching them and understanding that...it's OK to make a mistake and you learn from your mistakes...

Respondent #2:

...I think our kids in particular are so used to everything coming so easily...they definitely are used to...once and their done, they go it...and...we kind of put them in a lot of situations where that's not true...and it's very easy for them to get frustrated...

Respondent #1:

...Our kids also like want to know what they have to do to get an extend...what they have to do, like what is the limit, like what do they have to reach so they get that certain mark ...

Respondent #2:

... just knowing that, ya know, it doesn't come easy to everyone... I think it's really important for our kids to hear. And see. And know about. More than anything I think that's a huge thing for them....

At the end of the focus group, one member also identified the concept of "grit" and how this impacts the growth mindset and achievement of gifted students as well. She described that growth mindset and "grit" often go hand in hand and without grit, gifted students may not reach their potential. One other member also indicated agreement. Below is an excerpt from the participants' responses:

Respondent #1:

Another thing I want to kind of add on is the whole concept of grit, how fixed mindset or actually growth mindset fit with grit. And how you can be the smartest kid in the school but if you don't have that grit or growth mindset likely you won't carry through as far as you could probably, you will probably will not live up to your potential...Because you don't have the ability to push through that hard thing. And...you know if you quit...you're going to stop...you know a kiddo that's not necessarily gifted but a high achiever but has a tremendous amount of grit or um has such a growth mindset and they, you hear they go to Notre Dame and their a doctor, and you hear another kiddo who was just reading at an 8th grade level in 2nd grade and could ya know do algebra and all these things, and then that person is not really doing much outside of high school because they just didn't have that development of that perseverance.

Theme 3: The Teacher's Role is to Provide Lessons and Reinforcement of Growth Mindset Concepts in the Classroom

The group was then asked to expand on what they felt the teachers' role was in helping students develop a growth mindset. All respondents shared that they felt the teachers' role was to expose the concepts of growth mindset to their students through lessons and to reiterate these lessons/concepts throughout their instruction. Some participants expanded on this by describing modeling practices or ways to enhance the classroom environment (bulletin boards) to reinforce these concepts. In addition, later in the focus group, one participant also explicitly indicated the need to collaborate with general education teachers so that they can reinforce growth mindset concepts in the general education classroom with gifted students as well. Below are excerpts from participants' responses:

Respondent #2:

...I think it's our job to just to challenge them but also to let them know that there is a reason for it, ya know, that like I was talking earlier...about the famous failures and stuff for them to see what happens if you give it one more try...or if you just work a little bit harder...what there is out there.

Respondent #3:

...I feel that teachers can probably like almost like weekly do some type of growth mindset lesson, read a book, or share a story um just because I mean kids forget about it...in the next month, ya know, they need something to constantly remind them...or like a bulletin board, I've seen a lot more teachers putting like more growth mindset stuff up on bulletin board wise but still referring back to it...

Respondent #1:

...And then also modeling it...like teaching a lesson ya know you maybe veer off on something or whoa wait a minute that's not right and then I mean, sometimes they've asked me questions and I don't know the answer and I say, "well let me think about that" or "I'll come back to it" or "Does anybody else have anything" or um just that it's OK to make mistakes...

Respondent #1:

...We need to expand um and keeping talking about mindset with um our collaboration with the classroom teachers too and just um, ya know, what their expectations are because if these kids are always excelling in the classroom, their always getting told they do a great job, well, they need the opportunity to have that failure, not, or that challenge in the classroom...

Furthermore, one participant indicated the need to provide instruction and lessons on perseverance and "grit" which are linked to the concepts of growth mindset. Below is an excerpt from her response:

Respondent #1:

...You know a kiddo that's not necessarily gifted but a high achiever but has a tremendous amount of grit or um has such a growth mindset and they, you hear they go to Notre Dame and their a doctor, and you hear another kiddo who was just reading at an 8th grade level in 2nd grade and could ya know do algebra and all these things, and then that person is not really doing much outside of high school because they just didn't have that development of that perseverance. And that

why...so important and I think we can do something to help them develop that as teachers in the earlier grades and middle school and high school.

Theme 4: The Parent's Role is to Reinforce Concepts at Home with the Support of the Classroom Teacher

The group was then asked what they felt the parents' role should be in helping students develop a growth mindset. The teachers described that parents should be reinforcing these concepts at home by the way they speak with their children. For example, they should give students' time to process their days instead of trying to fix things for them. However, they described their role in supporting parents in this endeavor by communicating with parents about these strategies during parent teacher conferences. Below are excerpts from participants' responses:

Respondent #2:

...You hear parents all the time, oh my gosh, you're the greatest thing in the world and you're so smart, you're so...ya know and, ya know, we are just not doing them favors by saying that and, ya know, a couple of years ago we had a speaker come and talk to the parents about growth mindset and one of the things she said to them is like, "Stop asking your kids, ya know, how there day was immediately, like everybody needs time to process like, ya know, just give them time to talk and think and, ya know, and let it come out" but, ya know, everybody wants everything to be OK all of the time and I think that that does not lend itself to growth...

Respondent #3

...just interacting with parents...communicating with them and making sure they understand, ya know, what they can do at home and, ya know, at parent teacher conferences I've talked to parents about their social, their child's social emotional goals and um, ya know, having that growth mindset but ya know offering them like resources...

Respondent #1:

...I think every parent...parents of gifted kids should read something about fixed, what a growth and fixed mindset is. They need to be educated in how to speak to their own children in order to promote that mindset also. Not just academically, but how they do the dishes, or how they fold their clothes, or any, anything other there that they're doing, just...life skills too. To carry through their daily goings on or whatever....

Theme 5: Workshops, Parent Teacher Conferences, Student Assignments, and Collaborative Goal Setting are Ways to Help Parents Reinforce Growth Mindset Concepts

When asked to expand on what resources are needed to help parents learn how to promote growth mindset concepts at home and how parent and teacher collaboration could occur regarding growth mindset concepts, the focus group discussed several ideas. These ideas included active parent involvement and engagement strategies as well as continued teacher and parent communication. These strategies included parent workshops, sharing information at parent teacher conferences, assigning students
"homework" related to sharing with their family, and collaborative goal setting. Below are excerpts from participants' responses:

Respondent #3:

...Any speakers or even like workshops or anything like that where, that almost teaches them how, like the parents, how kids grow...I was just thinking back to like the, my Rube Goldberg project, almost like putting the parent in like a hands on type of workshop and having them figure it out, giving them supplies and having them create something, and obviously making it difficult for them to like, overcome obstacles and challenges and realizing that they have to persist in order to get something to work...just almost having them realize, OK this is what your children, what we want your children to be doing, ya know, something like that...

Respondent #2:

...It's part of our parent education too, I know I talk a lot with parents at conferences, ya know, when a grade is not maybe what they think it is, and why I think it's still great, ya know...if your child is getting extending on every single thing we do in math, then I'mnot really doing my job, I'm not pushing your child...

Respondent #1:

...I think they need like an environment of, where they can see what it is, or even encouraging the kids, like when you are talking about growth mindset and fixed mindset, having, giving them a little bit of an assignment to go home and teach their family what that is...like one science lesson the whole class failed on something and I said "Alright, I want everybody to go home and tell, everybody got an F in science today, everybody failed, failed, failed and it was AWESOME!" And that was their assignment, but then they also had to explain to teachers, their parents why. Why that was ok.

Respondent # 3:

...When we create those social emotional goals, almost having like the parents involved in the goal setting...or like the planning because maybe it will help them understand like this is something that should be carrying on throughout their life, like even at home, ya know...

Respondent #1:

...I like that a lot actually, having the parents involved in the social emotional, but based on this, like having...some kind of goal that based on growth mindset...and specific thing that the parent and the teacher... and the student all make up together...so then that's, that's um, ya know, helping them understand what it is...we can teach the parents a little bit more about that...

After analysis of the focus group transcript, the researcher identified five themes in which the majority of focus group members contributed. These themes indicated how teachers felt about the growth mindset work being conducted in their classrooms and how to support students further through parent and teacher collaboration. The five themes that emerged were: (1) growth mindset activities are currently being utilized in the classroom to promote growth mindset, (2) growth mindset work is valuable because of characteristics of gifted students, (3) the teacher's role is to provide lessons and reinforcement of growth mindset concepts in the classroom, (4) the parent's role is to reinforce concepts at home with the support of the classroom teacher, and (5) workshops, parent teacher conferences, student assignments, and collaborative goal setting are ways to help parents reinforce growth mindset concepts.

Summary

In this chapter, the researcher analyzed current parental knowledge of growth mindset concepts. A majority of parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts with the following themes emerging regarding their understanding: (1) growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement, (2) innate abilities and obtaining a criterion are contradictory to having a growth mindset, and (3) encouraging learning and improvement with their children helps to promote a growth mindset. The researcher then analyzed parental exposure to growth mindset concepts. A majority of parent participants indicated a relatively high level of exposure to growth mindset concepts. Following this, the researcher analyzed parental involvement with growth mindset concepts. Participants indicated a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts. The following themes emerged regarding their level of involvement: (1) promotion of and/or active use of strategies at home, and (2) reading/researching. Because of small sample size, Pearson correlations to explore the relationships between the variables of parent knowledge, exposure, and involvement could not be completed as intended. Finally, the researcher introduced the themes that emerged from coding the teacher focus group transcript. The five themes that emerged included: (1) growth mindset activities are currently being

utilized in the classroom to promote growth mindset, (2) growth mindset work is valuable because of characteristics of gifted students, (3) the teacher's role is to provide lessons and reinforcement of growth mindset concepts in the classroom, (4) the parent's role is to reinforce concepts at home with the support of the classroom teacher, and (5) workshops, parent teacher conferences, student assignments, and collaborative goal setting are ways to help parents reinforce growth mindset concepts.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to explore the current knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to growth mindset instruction occurring within the gifted program. Therefore, the study addressed the following overarching question: What impact has the current growth mindset practices in grades 5-6 gifted classroom within a small suburban K-8 district had on parents? Another purpose of the current study was to explore how the gifted teachers in a small suburban K-8 district can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts so that these concepts are further reinforced at home. Therefore, the study also addressed the following overarching question: How do gifted teachers of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward?

In this chapter the researcher discusses the importance of the study in terms of how current growth mindset instructional practices have impacted parents' knowledge, involvement, and exposure to growth mindset practices. The researcher points to teachers' perception of the parents' role in the development of a growth mindset in gifted students and what practices could be introduced or enhanced to further increase home school collaboration regarding growth mindset concepts. Parental perceptions could not be obtained due to lack of parent participants for the focus group. Thus, the researcher synthesizes and interprets results from only two sources. These sources include a parent survey and a transcript from a teacher focus group discussion. The researcher also discusses relevant literature and how it relates to interpretations of results. Finally, the researcher also discusses limitations of the study and implications for future research and practice.

Importance of the Study

Findings indicate that given the current growth mindset practices in a small suburban K-8 school district, a majority of parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts with the following themes emerging regarding their understanding: (1) growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement, (2) innate abilities and obtaining a criterion are contradictory to having a growth mindset, and (3) encouraging learning and improvement with their children helps to promote a growth mindset. In addition, given the current growth mindset practices, a majority of parent participants indicated a relatively high level of exposure to growth mindset concepts. However, parent participants indicated a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts themselves. The following themes emerged regarding their type of involvement: (1) promotion of and/or active use of strategies at home, and (2) reading/researching. In addition, teacher focus group members discussed five main themes reflecting their perceptions of how home school collaboration regarding growth mindset could look moving forward as well as their reflections on current practices and the parents' role in reinforcing those practices. The themes that emerged were: (1) growth mindset activities are currently being utilized in

the classroom to promote growth mindset; (2) growth mindset work is valuable because of characteristics of gifted students; (3) the teacher's role is to provide lessons and reinforcement of growth mindset concepts in the classroom; (4) the parent's role is to reinforce concepts at home with the support of the classroom teacher; and (5) workshops, parent teacher conferences, student assignments, and collaborative goal setting are ways to help parents reinforce growth mindset concepts. Results lead to suggestions for further development of home school collaboration regarding growth mindset practices. Findings for each research question will be discussed below.

Question #1

What impact has the current growth mindset practices in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district had on parents? Overall, parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts. Parents received relatively high scores on the close-ended knowledge portion of the parent survey and they were also able to further explain their level of knowledge through open ended questions by describing themes of (1) growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement, (2) innate abilities and obtaining a criterion are contradictory to having a growth mindset, and (3) encouraging learning and improvement with their children helps to promote a growth mindset.

The concepts within themes 1 and 2 (growth mindset is a belief regarding learning and improvement and that innate abilities and obtaining a criterion are contradictory to having a growth mindset) are represented in literature as being related to growth mindset and are therefore illustrative of a basic level of knowledge of growth mindset concepts. For example, Dweck (2000) described how students can hold differing "theories" or beliefs about the nature of intelligence (incremental vs. entity) which is similar to parents' understanding that growth mindset is a belief students can hold. In addition, Dweck defined incremental theory (otherwise known as growth mindset) as the belief that intelligence is malleable or something you can increase or improve. This is similar to parents' explanation that growth mindset is about learning and improvement. Dweck went further to describe that students who endorse an entity theory (otherwise known as fixed mindset) believe that intelligence is fixed, concrete, or something you cannot change. These students are also more likely to have performance goals for themselves where their focus is on achieving a certain criterion and demonstrating their skills to others. Parents' responses were representative of these ideas when describing that innate abilities and achieving a criterion are contradictory to have a growth mindset. The concept in theme 3 (encouraging learning and improvement with children helps to promote a growth mindset) is represented in literature as well. For example, Siegle and McCoach (2005) explain and recommend when talking with students, parents and teachers should acknowledge the ability of the student, while also recognizing that effort went into the development of that ability. This is similar to when the parents described that they need to encourage learning and improvement at home with their children to promote a growth mindset.

A majority of parent respondents also reported being exposed to growth mindset concepts specifically by the district. Elish-Piper (2014) describes how sharing information about growth mindset with parents is the first step to increasing collaboration and partnerships to develop a growth mindset in students. Although this finding is limited to the sample that completed the parent survey, it suggests that the current practices for growth mindset instruction within the district are reaching at least some parents to increase their exposure to growth mindset concepts, which can lead to greater collaboration and partnerships in the future.

Respondents also indicated a moderate but variable level of involvement with growth mindset concepts. The involvement parents described for promoting and/or actively using strategies at home can be linked to the literature for how parents can promote growth mindset in children. For example, Mueller and Dweck (1998) and Siegle and McCoach (2005) describe the way parents talk with their children can influence their development of a growth mindset. Although variable in the specificity for describing their use of active strategies at home with their children, parents demonstrated that they understand that their involvement, promotion of these concepts, and the way they talk with their children can influence their children's development of a growth mindset.

Unfortunately, due to small sample size, correlations to explore the relationship between the variables of knowledge, exposure, and involvement could not be completed in the current study. However, a review of raw data appears to show a trend in the direction that (1) the higher a parent's exposure to growth mindset concepts, the higher their level of knowledge about growth mindset concepts (2) the higher a parent's involvement with growth mindset concepts, the higher their level of knowledge about growth mindset concepts, the higher their level of knowledge about growth mindset concepts, and (3) the higher the parents' exposure to growth mindset concepts, the higher their involvement with growth mindset concepts. Therefore, it is possible that increased exposure to growth mindset concepts is correlated with increased knowledge and involvement with growth mindset practices, which could in turn lead to increased reinforcement of growth concepts at home. A larger sample size in a future study would be beneficial to determine whether these trends are accurate and significant. However, this analysis would not speak to the causality of the effect of these variables on each other.

Question #2

How do parents of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward? This question was intended to explore how parents perceived their role in developing a growth mindset in their children as well as how they would like collaboration to occur between their child's teacher and themselves with regard to developing a growth mindset for their children moving forward. Unfortunately, these questions could not be answered due to lack of parent interest in participating in the parent focus group.

Question #3

How do gifted teachers of students in grades 5-6 gifted classrooms within a small suburban K-8 district want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset to look moving forward? Overall, teachers provided insight through discussion that resulted in several themes that answered this research question. For example, one theme that emerged was that teachers believe that a parent's role is to reinforce growth mindset concepts at home with their children but with the support of a classroom teacher. They described that this reinforcement at home should occur through the way parents speak with their children not only about academic activities and skills, but also the way they talk about nonacademic activities (folding clothes, doing the dishes, etc.). This theme is consistent with the literature that states that the way parents speak with their children can impact the development of a growth mindset (Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Siegle & McCoach, 2005). However, it was evident in this theme that teachers also felt that it was their responsibility to continue to support parents in this endeavor while also continuing to instruct students on growth mindset concepts. Specifically, the teachers described their current home school collaboration practices of talking with parents at parent teacher conferences about growth mindset concepts. As Elish-Piper (2014) described, providing exposure to growth mindset concepts in this fashion is the first step in increasing home school collaboration regarding growth mindset concepts.

Taking it a step further, another theme emerged that described several ideas on how teachers thought home school collaboration regarding growth mindset concepts could improve moving forward. They described the use of additional workshops, discussions during parent teacher conferences, engaging in collaborative goal setting, and using student assignments that involve parents. More specifically, the teachers described the idea that the additional workshops should be hands on, where parents are put in situations in which they are expected to persevere and show a growth mindset. They indicated that this would be done to help parents learn exactly what it is teachers are expecting from students regarding perseverance and having a growth mindset. The be continuing to introduce, discuss, and model the concepts of growth mindset with parents. They felt that the development of the social emotional goals that they are currently completing with students could be expanded to involve collaboration between parents, teachers, and students. Specifically, the teachers felt this may be a beneficial activity to complete during beginning of the year parent teacher conferences. On a more ongoing basis, they suggested the development of student assignments in which the requirement was to involve parents in their learning and development of growth mindset concepts being done in the classroom.

These suggestions are congruent with some of the concepts discussed in literature for effective general home school. Esler et al. (2008) describe the importance of communication being proactive and persistent with parents. The teachers' suggestions represented proactive and persistent communication because they described multiple ways, over the course of the year that home school collaboration regarding growth mindset concepts could be provided to parents. Esler et al. (2008) also describe that communication should be universal, but individualized in order to meet specific student needs. Although the teachers had the idea to adapt the annual information night to more of a workshop model, this type of workshop would still be a way of providing universal communication. But because the teachers also recommended for students to create individualized social emotional goals with the input of parents, teachers, and students during parent teacher conferences, an element of individualization was also included that would make for a more effective means of home school collaboration. These suggestions are also congruent with the concepts discussed in literature for how to increase development of a growth mindset in children. Elish-Piper (2014) describes that teachers and schools should share information about growth mindset with parents but also help parents learn how to model, encourage, and reinforce a growth mindset at home. The teachers described continuing to share growth mindset information with parents, but also introduced the concept of a workshop that could go beyond just being provided information from a guest speaker. In this type of workshop model, parents could gain a deeper understanding of these concepts through hands on experiences that would help them better understand how to model, encourage, and reinforce growth mindset concepts at home.

In addition to the themes described previously that represented the answer to the main research question, additional themes also emerged from the data. These themes provided a more in depth understanding of what is currently occurring regarding growth mindset practices within the district, why teachers felt this type of instruction was important for their students, and what teachers believed their role to be in this instruction. Specifically, the teachers described current lessons, activities, and discussions being completed in which the goal is to promote effort and improvement and thus a growth mindset with their students. This included student projects they would complete throughout a trimester, student goal setting, and ongoing discussions and modeling of concepts by the teacher. This information confirmed that teachers were implementing growth mindset instruction and practices in their classrooms as intended.

Teachers also described that they felt growth mindset instruction was important for gifted students because things typically come easily to these students and that the students can become frustrated and lack perseverance when faced with challenges or making mistakes. Students were also described as often demonstrating a desire to obtain a certain grade or mark instead of focusing on improvement and learning. In addition, teachers shared concern that without "grit" or having a growth mindset, gifted students may not reach their potential. These ideas are consistent with research that indicates that underachievement, motivational concerns, and social emotional difficulties are present with gifted students (Blaas, 2014; Parker, 1997; Reis & McCoach, 2010) and that growth mindset instruction may be beneficial in combating these concerns (Chan, 2012).

Teachers also shared the belief that their role was to expose the concepts of growth mindset to their students through lessons and to reiterate these concepts throughout their instruction. Some teachers expanded on this by describing modeling practices or ways to enhance the classroom environment (bulletin boards) to reinforce these concepts. In addition, they discussed the need to involve and collaborate with general education teachers to reinforce these concepts in the general education classroom as well. Overall, these themes demonstrate that the gifted teachers believe that the current growth mindset practices occurring with the classroom are valuable and that they believe it is a part of their role to reinforce these concepts with students.

To summarize, given the current growth mindset instructional practices occurring in a small suburban K-8 school district, a majority of parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts as well as a relatively high level of exposure to growth mindset concepts. However, parent participants indicated a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts. Teachers report feeling a parent's role is to reinforce growth mindset concepts at home by the way they speak with their children with the support of a classroom teacher. In addition, collaboration could improve with parents through the use of workshops, discussions during parent teacher conferences, student assignments that involve parents, and collaborative goal setting.

Limitations of the Study

A limitation of the current study included the small sample size of parents that completed the survey. The eight participants represented only 14.8% of the study's intended population, which suggests that results may not be representative of the knowledge, exposure, and involvement of all parents within the population. For example, it is possible that parents that had a greater knowledge, exposure, or involvement of growth mindset concepts were more likely to participate in the survey than parents with less knowledge, exposure, or involvement because of their familiarity with growth mindset concepts. Therefore, the results suggesting moderate to high levels of basic knowledge, exposure, and involvement with growth mindset concepts may be inflated as compared to the knowledge, exposure, and involvement of the entire parent population of $5^{th}-6^{th}$ grade gifted students.

Another limitation of the current study includes the lack of parent participants for the parent focus group. Because of lack of participation, parent perspectives on their role in fostering a growth mindset with their children as well as how they would like home school collaboration to occur could not be obtained. As Esler et al. (2008) indicated, one of the elements for increasing home school collaboration includes gaining parents' perspective. Without the input of parents, the suggestions for future home school collaboration activities are limited.

Additionally, because of the qualitative nature of the research, results are limited to the district studied. However, the researcher did not intend to be able to generalize results to other school districts or settings, but rather look at this study as a specific case for which results could be utilized to improve practices within the intended district.

Implications for Future Study

This study was designed to explore the current knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to growth mindset instruction occurring within the gifted program. In addition, the study was designed to explore how parents and teachers want home school collaboration regarding growth mindset concepts to look moving forward. However, there was a lack of parent participants for the focus group portion of the current study which limits the findings. Future researchers should utilize enhanced recruitment procedures within the same district in order to encourage parent participation. This could include increased notification of the need for participants, including both direct (handing out flyers at parent teacher conferences) and indirect (sending home reminder emails) methodologies. This could help to ensure that parent perceptions and opinions are taken into consideration when considering changes to home school collaboration regarding growth mindset in Sunnydale District 100 which is an important component for effective home school collaboration as described by Esler et al. (2008).

In addition, future researchers could also expand on the current study by exploring how collaboration with general education teachers in Sunnydale District 100 can be increased as well. In the current study, teacher participants mentioned that their role, in addition to teaching growth mindset concepts to gifted students, also included working with the students' general education teachers in the classroom. This was indicated to be the case so that the general education teachers could also help reinforce growth mindset concepts with gifted students. In essence, this would help to further create a culture of learning across a gifted student's day that is consistent with growth mindset concepts. Haimovitz and Dweck (2017) discuss the importance of the classroom as being a setting by which mindsets can be socialized, but that this socialization is not limited to interactions between one teacher and one student, but rather through creating cultural norms. By also collaborating with general education teachers regarding growth mindset instruction, these teachers could help to enhance a greater culture of growth mindset throughout the gifted student's day. Therefore, future researchers could ask: How could collaboration between the student's gifted teacher, general education teacher, and parent best occur? Additional focus groups including general education teachers would be beneficial in addressing this question.

However, future researchers could also take this one step further to look toward how to expand growth mindset instruction occurring in classrooms in Sunnydale District 100 to school wide practices. Haimovitz and Dweck (2017) describe that more than 150 schools in the United States are adopting an education model called "expeditionary learning" that is fostering a growth mindset culture within entire schools. The schools go beyond the feedback teachers provide in individual classrooms, and instead hold school wide events in which they celebrate learning as a community as well. They hold "celebration of learning" events that show what students have achieved while emphasizing the learning process. They also celebrate the setbacks, mistakes, and struggles that can occur through this learning process. Haimovitz and Dweck indicate that these school wide practices may be highly effective ways to socialize entire communities into a culture of growth mindset. However, they indicate that future research is still needed to determine the effectiveness of these types of institutional practices. Therefore, future researchers could not only ask: How could school wide practices be incorporated with the growth mindset classroom instruction occurring in Sunnydale District 100? But also: What impact is incorporating school wide practices having on increasing gifted students' growth mindsets in Sunnydale District 100?

Finally, many research studies (Blackwell et al., 2007; Donahue et al., 2012; Paunesku et al., 2015) have examined the effectiveness of growth mindset interventions with all students, regardless of giftedness classification. In addition, as Parker and Adkins (1995) indicated, perfectionist tendencies are not limited to the gifted population. Therefore, all students, not just those within the gifted population, would likely benefit from the growth mindset instruction occurring in the gifted classrooms in Sunnydale District 100. Future researchers could look toward how to expand or transfer the growth mindset instruction occurring in the gifted classrooms in Sunnydale general education classrooms so that all students are exposed to growth mindset instruction. For example, researchers could ask: How could current growth mindset practices being utilized in the gifted classroom be transferred into the general education classroom? This may include investigating how the gifted teachers would be able to support and coach general education teachers in the implementation of this type of instruction with all students.

Conclusions

This study explored the current knowledge, exposure, and involvement of parents of gifted students in grades 5-6 in a small suburban K-8 school district with regard to growth mindset instruction. In addition, this study explored how teachers in the same school district can increase home school collaboration in regards to growth mindset concepts so that these concepts are further reinforced at home. The findings of this study indicate, given current growth mindset practices, parent participants demonstrated a relatively high basic knowledge of growth mindset concepts as well as a relatively high level of exposure to these concepts. However, they only reported a moderate, but variable, level of involvement with growth mindset concepts themselves. Teachers report feeling a parent's role is to reinforce growth mindset concepts at home by the way they speak with their children with the support of a classroom teacher; however, home school collaboration could improve with the use of workshops, discussions during parent teacher conferences, student assignments that involve parents, and collaborative goal setting. These suggestions are in line with best practices for improving home school collaboration (Esler et al., 2008). However, these suggestions are limited due to the lack of parent

perception and feedback regarding home school collaboration techniques. A future study needs to ensure obtainment of parent perspective with regard to home school collaboration moving forward. Future study could also explore how to expand growth mindset instruction beyond the gifted classroom, into the general education classroom. APPENDIX A

PARENT SURVEY

Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability. Knowledge

1. In your own words, please describe what you think a growth mindset is as if you were explaining it to another person. If you are unsure, please indicate "I am not sure" or "I don't know."

2. In your own words, what do you think is the difference between a growth mindset and a fixed mindset? If you are unsure, please indicate "I am not sure" or "I don't know."

3. What do you think are some ways that you can promote a growth mindset for your child? If you are unsure, please indicate "I am not sure" or "I don't know."

Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability. Knowledge

4. What kind of mindset do you think is the belief that abilities can be developed through hard work, effort, and perseverance? Please check one.

o Effort Based Mindset

o Growth Mindset

o Intelligence Mindset

o Fixed Mindset

o I don't know

5. What kind of mindset do you think is the belief that intelligence cannot be changed even with hard work, effort, and perseverance?

- o Effort Based Mindset
- o Intelligence Mindset
- o Fixed Mindset
- o Growth Mindset
- o I don't know

6. If a student says, "I'm just not good at that," "No matter what I do, I won't get better," or "I give up, it's just too hard," what type of mindset do you think they are most likely to have?

- o Fixed Mindset
- o Growth Mindset
- o Intelligence Mindset
- o Effort Based Mindset
- o I don't know

Please answer the following to the best of your ability.

7. If a student says, "Even though this is hard, I am going to keep trying," "This may be hard now, but I will learn from it," or "With extra effort, I know I can accomplish this," what mindset do you think they are likely to have?

- o Effort Based Mindset
- o Fixed Mindset
- o Intelligence Mindset
- o Growth Mindset
- o I don't know

8. What type of mindset do you think will help increase a student's motivation?

o Growth Mindset

o Intelligence Mindset

o Effort Based Mindset

o Fixed Mindset

- o I don't know
- 9. What type of mindset do you think will cause a student to be more likely to give up? o Fixed Mindset

o Intelligence Mindset

o Growth Mindset

o Effort Based Mindset

o I don't know

10. What do you think having a growth mindset can help students with improving the most?

o Grades and standardized test performance

o Eating habits

o Friendships

o Sleep

o I don't know

Please answer the following to the best of your ability.

11. What do you think students with a fixed mindset are least likely to do:

- o Avoid challenges
- o Give up easily

o Learn from criticism

o Feel threatened by the success of others

o I don't know

12. To increase a growth mindset in students, what do you think is the best way to praise a student?

o You are so smart!

o You are a natural at that!

o You worked really hard!

o Wow! Good job!

o I don't know

13. To increase a growth mindset in students, what do you think is least helpful for parents to talk with their children:

o Natural strengths and abilities

o The brain and how it learns

o Mistakes as learning opportunities

o Emotions and how it can impact learning

o I don't know

Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability. Involvement

14. In your own words, please describe your level of involvement with the idea of growth mindset. If you are unsure, please indicate "I am unsure" or "I don't know."

15. Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability. Involvement

I have heard the term "Growth Mindset" prior to completing this survey.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have heard the term "Growth Mindset" from information provided specifically from my child's gifted teacher/school/district prior to completing this survey.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have heard the term "Growth Mindset" from additional outside resources other than my child's gifted teacher/school/district prior to completing this survey.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have heard the term "Growth Mindset" from information provided from my child's gifted teacher/school/district as well as additional outside resources prior to completing this survey.

o Yes o No o I don't know

16. Please indicate whether or not the following statements apply to you.

I attended a parent information session on growth mindset hosted by the district either in the fall of 2015 or fall of 2016.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have spoken with my child's gifted teacher or other school staff regarding growth mindset.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have read additional outside information regarding growth mindset not provided by my child's gifted teacher/school/district.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have spoken with my gifted child regarding growth mindset.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

I have implemented growth mindset strategies with my gifted child at home.

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability. Additional Information

17. Please provide any additional thoughts or comments that you wish to share regarding the concept of growth mindset.

Please answer the following questions in regards to your oldest child currently participating in the 5th or 6th grade gifted program in "Sunnydale School District." Basic Information

18. Please indicate the current age of your oldest child within the 5th or 6th grade gifted program.

19. Please indicate the grade level of your oldest child within the 5th or 6th grade gifted program.

20. Please indicate the grade level in which you child first participated in the gifted program at "Sunnydale School District."

21. Is your oldest child within the 5th or 6th grade gifted program:

o White

- o Black or African-American
- o American Indian or Alaskan Native

o Asian

o Native Hawaiian or other Pacific islander

o From multiple races

o Some other race (please specify): _____

22. Does your oldest child within the 5th or 6th grade gifted program qualify for the free and reduced lunch program?

o Yes

o No

o I don't know

23. In what areas do your oldest child within the 5th or 6th grade gifted program currently receive gifted services?

o English/Language Arts Only

o Math Only

o Both English/Language Arts and Math

o I don't know

Please answer the following questions in regards to yourself. Demographic Information

24. Are you male or female?

o Male

o Female

25. What is your age?

o 18-20 o 21-29 o 30-39 o 40-49 o 50-59 o 60 or older

26. What is the highest level of school you have completed or the highest degree you have received?

o Less than high school degree

o High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)

o Some college but no degree

o Associate degree

o Bachelor degree

o Graduate degree

27. Which of the following categories best describes your employment status?

o Employed, working full-time

o Employed, working part-time

o Not employed, looking for work

o Not employed, NOT looking for work

o Retired

o Disabled, not able to work

Please answer the following questions in regards to yourself. Demographic Information

28. Are you:

o White

o Black or African-American

o American Indian or Alaskan Native

o Asian

o Native Hawaiian or other Pacific islander

o From multiple races

o Some other race (please specify): _____

APPENDIX B

FOLLOW UP PARENT SURVEY

1. Please provide your first and last name.

2. Please provide your email address or phone number (whichever way you prefer to be contacted).

APPENDIX C

PARENT FOCUS GROUP PROTOCOL

Introduction

- 1. Introduce yourself
 - a. I would first like to thank you all for being here this evening. I appreciate the time you are taking out of your busy schedules to meet with the group and talk a little more about the growth mindset work being done in your child's gifted classroom. My name is Lauren Carlson, and I am a School Psychologist within Sunnydale School District. I am currently assigned to XXXX Elementary and XXXX Junior High. This is my fifth year working within the district as a school psychologist. I attended Illinois State University for my graduate training where I received my specialist degree in school psychology. I am currently working on my doctor of education degree at Loyola University Chicago in school psychology. I have been working closely not only with university faculty, but also Dr. Kelly Neylon, the District's gifted coordinator, in development of the current project.
- 2. Discuss the purpose of the study
 - a. The purpose of the current study and the reason why we are gathering here today is to talk more about the growth mindset work being done in your child's gifted classroom. As you know, you completed a survey earlier this year regarding your understanding of growth mindset. As a follow up to that survey, I am interested in learning more about your perceptions of the growth mindset work being done in your child's gifted classroom as well as the role you see parents having in the development of growth mindset for their children. In addition, I am interested in the collaboration between teachers and parents related to growth mindset.
- 3. Get informed consent signature
 - a. Before we get started, I would ask that you all review the consent form in front of you as I explain it. (Read consent form with them). If you consent to your participation in this portion of the study, I would ask that you please sign and date the form and return them to me.
- 4. Provide structure of interview (audio recording, saying number first, taking notes)
 - a. During the next part of the discussion, I will begin audio recording. The audio recording will later be transcribed for analysis. In assisting with this process, I would ask if you could please state a number each time before you speak to maintain confidentiality of your responses. Here is the number that I will assign you. (Assign numbers). I will also be taking notes during the discussion on these sheets of paper. Please be respectful of each other's comments and wait until someone is done talking before sharing your opinion. You do not need to raise your hand in order to participate, but you may if you choose to do so. Please just remember to say your number, but not your name, before speaking.
 - b. The information you share during this focus group will not be connected with your personal information during analysis or reporting of results. In addition, I please ask that information shared tonight not be discussed

outside of this room. I would like to respect to the privacy of all participants and would like for everyone to feel that this is a safe place to share their thoughts freely.

- 5. Ask if interviewees have any questions
 - a. Do you have any questions?
- 6. Define any necessary terms
 - a. Before we get started, I would like to define for you the definition of growth mindset and fixed mindset as described by the Stanford researcher Carol Dweck, so that we are on the same page. I will also provide you a handout of this information in written form to refer back to as needed through our discussion.
 - b. Growth mindset is the belief that intellectual ability is malleable through hard work and effort (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who have a growth mindset tend to believe through hard work, effort, and persistence, that they can increase their skills and achieve their goals.
 - c. Conversely, fixed mindset is the belief that intelligence is fixed, concrete, or something you cannot change (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who believe in an entity theory of intelligence may lack persistence and give up more easily on a task, reducing their skill development and decreasing the likelihood of achieving their goals.

Questions

- What is your understanding of the growth mindset work being done in your child's classroom?
 Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- What value do you see in the growth mindset work being done in your child's classroom?
 Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- What role do you think teachers should have in promoting a growth mindset for a gifted child? Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- What role do you think parents should have in promoting a growth mindset for their gifted child? Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 5. What resources are needed for parents to reinforce the concepts of a growth mindset at home for their gifted child? Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.

- How could teachers and parents work together to reinforce the concepts of a growth mindset for gifted children? Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- Is there any further information related to growth mindset and giftedness that you would like to share that we have not covered?
 Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.

Closing Instructions

- 8. Thank everyone for participating
- 9. Assure everyone of confidentiality
- 10. Provide contact information for further questions

APPENDIX D

TEACHER FOCUS GROUP PROTOCOL
Introduction

- 1. Introduce yourself
 - a. I would first like to thank you all for being here this evening. I appreciate the time you are taking out of your busy schedules to meet with the group and talk a little more about the growth mindset work you all are doing in your gifted classrooms. For those of you who don't know me, my name is Lauren Carlson, and I am a School Psychologist within the district. I am currently assigned to Sunnydale Elementary and Jefferson Junior High. This is my sixth year working within the district as a school psychologist. I attended Illinois State University for my graduate training where I received my specialist degree in school psychology. I am currently working on my doctor of education degree at Loyola University Chicago in school psychology. I have been working closely not only with university faculty, but also Dr. Kelly Neylon in development of the current project.
- 2. Discuss the purpose of the study
 - a. The purpose of the current study and the reason why we are gathering here today is to talk more about the growth mindset work being done in your gifted classrooms. I am interested in learning more about parent perceptions of the growth mindset work being done in your classrooms as well as the role you see parents having in the development of growth mindset for their children. In addition, I am interested in the collaboration between teachers and parents related to growth mindset.
- 3. Get informed consent signature
 - a. Before we get started, I would ask that you all review the consent form in front of you as I explain it. (Read consent form with them). If you consent to your participation in this portion of the study, I would ask that you please sign and date the form and return them to me.
- 4. Provide structure of interview (audio recording, saying number first, taking notes)
 - a. During the next part of the discussion, I will begin audio recording. The audio recording will later be transcribed for analysis. In assisting with this process, I would ask you if could please state a number each time before you speak to maintain confidentiality of your responses. Here is the number that I will assign you. (Assign numbers). I will also be taking notes during the discussion on these sheets of paper. Please be respectful of each other's comments and wait until someone is done talking before sharing your opinion. You do not need to raise your hand in order to participate, but you may if you choose to do so. Please just remember to say your number, but not your name, before speaking.
 - b. The information you share during this focus group will not be connected with your personal information during analysis or reporting of results. In addition, I please ask that information shared tonight not be discussed outside of this room. I would like to respect the privacy of all participants

and would like for everyone to feel that this is a safe place to share their thoughts freely.

- 5. Ask if interviewees have any questions
 - a. Do you have any questions?
- 6. Define any necessary terms
 - a. Before we get started, I would like to define for you the definition of growth mindset and fixed mindset as described by the Stanford researcher Carol Dweck, so that we are on the same page. I will also provide you a handout of this information in written form to refer back to as needed through our discussion.
 - b. Growth mindset is the belief that intellectual ability is malleable through hard work and effort (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who have a growth mindset tend to believe through hard work, effort, and persistence, that they can increase their skills and achieve their goals.
 - c. Conversely, fixed mindset is the belief that intelligence is fixed, concrete, or something you cannot change (Dweck, 2000). When faced with a challenge, students who believe in an entity theory of intelligence may lack persistence and give up more easily on a task, reducing their skill development and decreasing the likelihood of achieving their goals.

Questions

- What value do you see in the growth mindset work being done in your classroom?
 a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 2. What role do you think teachers should have in promoting a growth mindset for a gifted child?
 - a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 3. What role do you think parents should have in promoting a growth mindset for their gifted child?
 - a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 4. What resources are needed for parents to reinforce the concepts of a growth mindset at home for their gifted child?
 - a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 5. How could teachers and parents work together to reinforce the concepts of a growth mindset for gifted children?
 - a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.
- 6. Is there any further information related to growth mindset and giftedness that you would like to share that we have not covered?
 - a. Probes: Tell me more. Please explain.

Closing Instructions

- Thank everyone for participating
 Assure everyone of confidentiality
 Provide contact information for further questions

APPENDIX E

FOLLOW UP TEACHER SURVEY

Please answer the following questions in regards to yourself.

- 1. Are you male or female?
 - o Male
 - o Female
- 2. What is your age?
 - o 18-20 o 21-29
 - o 30-39
 - o 40-49
 - o 50-59
- 3. Are you White, Black or African-American, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific islander, or some other race?
 - o White
 - o Black or African-American
 - o American Indian or Alaskan Native
 - o Asian
 - o Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander
 - o From multiple races
 - o Some other race (please specify):
- 4. Please list all degrees you have received and what areas they were received in.
- 5. Please list any endorsement(s) you have received, if any, and what area(s) they were received in. If none, please indicate N/A.
- 6. Please indicate the number of years you have been teaching (include all districts and all positions.

o 2

- o 3
- o 4
- o 5
- 06
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10
- o 11
- o 12
- o 13
- o 14
- o 15
- o 16
- o 17
- o 18
- o 19
- o 20
- o 21
- o 22
- o 23
- 0 23
- o 24
- o 25+
- Please indicate the number of years you have been teaching in "Sunnydale School District."
 - o 1
 - o 2
 - o 3

- o 4
- o 5
- 06
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10
- o 11
- o 12
- o 13
- o 14
- o 15
- o 16
- o 17
- o 18
- o 19
- o 20
- o 21
- o 22
- o 23
- o 24
- o 25+
- 8. Please indicate the number of years you have been teaching students in gifted education.
 - o 1
 - o 2
 - o 3
 - o 4
 - o 5

105

- 06
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10
- o 11
- o 12
- o 13
- o 14
- o 15
- o 16
- o 17
- o 18
- o 19
- o 20
- o 21
- o 22
- o 23
- o 24
- o 25+

REFERENCE LIST

- Ablard, K. E., & Parker, W. D. (1997). Parents' achievement goals and perfectionism in their academically talented children. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 26(6), 651.
- Blaas, S. (2014). The relationship between social-emotional difficulties and underachievement of gifted students. *Australian Journal of Guidance and Counseling*, 24(2), 243-255. doi:10.1017/jgc.2014.1
- Blackwell, L. S., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C.S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across an adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246-263. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00995.x
- Chan, D. W. (2012). Life satisfaction, happiness, and the growth mindset of healthy and unhealthy perfectionists among Hong Kong Chinese gifted students. *Roeper Review*, *34*(4), 224-233. doi:10.1080/02783193.2012.715333
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2007). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Donahue, C., Topping, K., & Hannah, E. (2012). The impact of an online intervention (Brainology) on the mindset and resiliency of secondary school pupils: A preliminary mixed methods study. *Educational Psychology*, *32*(5), 641-655.
- Dweck, C. S. (2000). Self-theories: Their role in motivation, personality, and development. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Dweck, C. S. (2010). Even geniuses work hard. *Educational Leadership*, 68(1), 16-20.
- Elish-Piper, L. (2014). Parent involvement in reading: Growth mindset and grit: Building important foundations for literacy learning and success at home. *Illinois Reading Council Journal*, 42(4), 59-63.
- Esler, A. N., Godber, Y., & Christenson, S.L. (2008). Best practices in support schoolfamily partnerships. In A. Thomas, & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology V* (pp. 917-936). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.

- Esparza, J., Shumow, L., & Schmidt, J. A. (2014). Growth mindset of gifted seventh grade students in science. *NCSSSMST Journal*, 19(1), 6-13.
- Fletcher, K. L., & Speirs Neumeister, K. L. (2012). Research on perfectionism and achievement motivation: Implications for gifted students. *Psychology in the Schools, 49*(7), 668-677. doi:10.1002/pits.21623
- Garn, A. C., Matthews, M. S., & Jolly, J. L. (2012). Parents' role in the academic motivation of students with gifts and talents. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(7), 656-667. doi:10.1002/pits.21626
- Haimovitz, K., & Dweck C.S. (2017). The origins of children's growth and fixed mindsets: New research and a new proposal. *Child Development*, 88(6), 1849-1859.
- Haimovitz, K., Wormington, S.V., & Corpus, J.H. (2011). Dangerous mindsets: How beliefs about intelligence predict motivational change. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(6), 747-752.
- Illinois State Board of Education (2016-2017). *Woodridge District* 68. Retrieved from https://www.illinoisreportcard.com/District.aspx?source=profile&Districtid=1902 068002
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2008). Qualitative data analysis: A compendium of techniques and a framework for selection for school psychology research and beyond. *School Psychologist Quarterly*, 23(4), 587-604.
- Mindset Works, Inc. (2012). Brainology. Retrieved from: http://www.mindsetworks.com/
- Morawska, A., & Sanders, M.R. (2009). Parenting gifted and talented children: Conceptual and empirical foundations. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *53*(3), 163-173.
- Mueller, C. M., & Dweck, C. S. (1998). Praise for intelligence can undermine children's motivation and performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75(1), 33-52.
- Nastasi, B. K., & Schensul, S. L. (2005). Contributions of qualitative research to the validity of intervention research. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43(3), 177-195.
- Parker, W. D. (1997). An empirical typology of perfectionism in academically talented children. *American Educational Research Journal*, *34*(3), 545-562.
- Parker, W. D., & Adkins, K. K. (1995). Perfectionism and the gifted. *Roeper Review*, *17*(3), 13.

- Parker, W. D., & Mills, C. J. (1996). The incidence of perfectionism in gifted students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40(4), 194.
- Paunesku, D., Walton, G. M., Romero, C., Smith, E. N., Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Mindset interventions are a scalable treatment for academic underachievement. *Psychological Science*, 26(6), 784-792.
- Reis, S. M., & McCoach, D. B. (2000). The underachievement of gifted students: What do we know and where do we go? Washington, DC. doi:10.1177/001698620004400302
- Siegle, D., & McCoach, D.B. (2005). Make a difference: Motivating gifted students who are not achieving. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, 38(1), 22-27.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2017). *QuickFacts Woodridge Village, Illinois*. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/woodridgevillageillinois/INC11026.
- Weber, C. L., & Stanley, L. (2012). Educating parents of gifted children: Designing effective workshops for changing parent perceptions. *Gifted Child Today*, *35*(2), 128-136. doi:10.1177/1076217512437734

VITA

Lauren A. Carlson was born in Joliet, IL. Lauren completed her bachelor of arts in psychology from Illinois Wesleyan University in 2008. She then pursued her specialist degree in school psychology from Illinois State University. She completed her internship at "Sunnydale School District" under the guidance of Dr. Barb Martin. After completing her school psychology degree in 2011, she began working for "Sunnydale School District" and continues to be employed there. Lauren then pursued her Doctor of Education degree in School Psychology from Loyola University Chicago.

DOCTORAL RESEARCH PROJECT COMMITTEE

The Doctoral Research Project submitted by Lauren A. Carlson has been read and approved by the following committee:

Markeda Newell, Ph.D., Director Associate Professor and Program Chair, School of Education Loyola University Chicago

Gina Coffee, Ph.D. School Psychologist Denver Public Schools

Kelly Neylon, Ph.D. Principal Woodridge District 88